Influence of topography and vegetation cover on soil organic carbon stocks, soil loss, water balance and greenhouse gas fluxes in wooded grasslands of Laikipia County, Kenya

Chepkemoi Janeth

A research thesis submitted to the graduate school in fulfilment of the requirements for the award of degree of doctor of philosophy in soil science

Department of land resource management and agricultural technology

Faculty of Agriculture

College of Agriculture and Veterinary Sciences

University of Nairobi

2021

DECLARATION

This thesis is my original work and has not been submitted for the award of a degree in any other institution of learning.

Chepkemoi Janeth	Signature	Date
A80/50090/2015	F	07/12/2021
This thesis has been submitted with ou	r approval as the University	y supervisors.
Prof. Richard. N. Onwonga	Signature	Date
Department of Land Resource	Ridinga	07/12/2021
Management and Agricultural		

.....

Signature

Prof. Richard O. Nyankanga Department of Plant Science and Crop Protection, University of Nairobi

Technology, University of Nairobi

• Algu

Date

07/12/2021

DEDICATION

To my family: Husband Camalas Kipchirchir Keiyo and children (Lauryn Chelangat Keiyo and Larsen Kiplangat Keiyo).

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

I am sincerely grateful to my supervisors: Prof. Richard Onwonga, and Dr. Richard Nyakanga (University of Nairobi) for the unreserved appraisal and guidance they accorded me throughout the research and thesis writing period, without which, completion of this thesis would not have been possible.

I acknowledge the system for land-based emission Kenya under the ministry of environment and Natural resources through the Australian government for funding the project and Kenya Forestry Research Institute (KEFRI) for their financial support through the USAID under NAS-PEER project for funding this research. Grateful to NAS-PEER project coordinator (Stephen Kiama) for the support throughout the data collection. I am also indebted to Dr. Harun Gitare for helping in statistical analysis and valuable inputs during thesis writing. I recognize fellow postgraduate students Angela Gitau, Collins Ouma, Shadrack Nyawade, Hannah Nyakio and Bernice Mereina Sainepo who were supportive and always encouraged me to remain focused on this academic journey. I am also appreciative of the excellent technical support from laboratory technicians John Kimotho and Ferdinand Anyika during laboratory analyses. Special regards to Ilmotiok community ranch leaders and youths for playing a key role in trial experiment management and data collection.

I recognize and appreciate the moral support from my family members; Dad John Cherorot, Mum Esther Cherorot, father in-law John Boen and late mum in-law Mary Boen and my brothers Vincent, Victor, Johnstone, Fredrick, Gilbert, Nicholas and Nixon. Specifically, I am indebted to my immediate family members, Camalas Keiyo (Husband), Lauryn Chelangat (daughter), Larsen Kiplangat (son) and Hezron Kipkoech Kirui (Brother-in-law). Thanks for being patient, understanding and always there for me through thick and thin. I thank God for giving me such a wonderful family. Above all, I thank the Almighty God for the immeasurable provision, protection and guidance throughout this journey.

GENERAL ABSTRACT

Soil carbon stocks (SOCs), soil water balance and greenhouse gas fluxes measurements in wooded grassland are often done in a single assessment. This is oblivious of its heterogeneous nature and asymmetric distribution that characterizes wooded grassland and thence inaccurate results are captured. This information is essential, albeit lacking, for designing sustainable strategies important for management of the fragile wooded grassland ecosystems. The present study investigated topographical and vegetation cover types effects on SOCs, soil water balance (SWB) and greenhouse gas fluxes in wooded grasslands of Laikipia County, Kenya. This study was conducted during the short and long rainy seasons of 2016 in Ilmotiok group ranch of Laikipia County. Soil organic carbon stocks (SOCs), soil water balance (SWB) and greenhouse gas fluxes across different topographical positions and vegetation cover were quantified. The experimental design was a RCBD with a split plot layout. The main plots were topographical zones (TZ); mid slopes (MS), foot slope (FS) and toe slope (TS). The subplots were vegetation cover (VC) types: tree (T), grass (G) and bare (B). Sampling of soil was done at intervals of 10 cm to a depth of 50cm in a zigzag manner using a soil auger. The sampling was done along a transect line of 150m after every block of 50m forming three replicates. The sampled soil was analyzed for texture, bulk density (BD) and soil organic carbon. Runoff plots were set up across the TZ and VC types to monitor runoff (RO) and soil loss (SL). To measure Greenhouse Gas (GHGs) fluxes (methane (CH₄), carbon dioxide (CO₂), and Nitrous Oxide (N₂O) static chamber frames were installed across the topographic zones and vegetation cover types. GHGs were measured every 7-10 days in the dry season, intermediate and rainy season between 0800hrs and 1200hr local time. TZ, VC, depth and TZ*VC significantly (p<0.05) influenced BD and SOCs. There was a significantly higher bulk at MS (1.03 g/cm³ and 1.00 g/cm³) but not significantly different from TS (1.02 and 0.92 gcm⁻³) with FS having the lowest value (0.97 and 0.88 gcm⁻³) for LRS and SRS respectively. Vegetation cover significantly (P < 0.05) influence with highest bulk density recorded under BR (1.04 and 0.96 gcm⁻³) which was not significantly different from TR (1.01 and 0.92 gcm⁻³) and significantly higher than GR (0.97 and 0.92 gcm⁻³) for LRS and SRS respectively. The interaction of topography and vegetation significantly influence bulk density with highest value recorded under FS*BR (1.11 and 1.03 gcm⁻³) for LRS and SRS respectively. Highest soil organic carbon stocks were recorded at the TS (6.40 and 6.51 MgHa⁻¹) as compared to other zones though not significantly different

iv

v

from MS (6.16 and 6.46 MgHa⁻¹) but significantly different from FS (5.29 and 5.93 MgHa⁻¹). SOCs under GR (6.31 and 6.53 MgHa⁻¹) were slightly higher than other vegetation cover, the lowest was recorded under BR (5.76 and 6.02 MgHa⁻¹) for LRS and SRS respectively. The upper soil depth (0-10) had (8.70 and 8.74 MgHa⁻¹) compared to the lower depth (40-50) with (3.52 and 4.07 MgHa⁻¹). There were significant [P<.001] differences in evapotranspiration, runoff and soil loss across the three topographical zones and vegetation cover types. The run off was significantly higher in mid slope*bare [175.90 and 168.75 mm] and mid slope *grass [172.00 and 164.85mm] compared to toe slope *bare [169.79 and 162.64 mm] and Toe Slope* Grass [165.89 and 158.74 mm] during the LRS and SRS. Whereas Soil water balance was highest at the toe slope*grass [279.46 and 119.49 mm] than Foot slope*Grass [273.51 and 113.54 mm] and Mid Slope*Grass [267.23 and 104.76 mm] during the LRS and SRS respectively. The Run off Coefficient was significantly lower in the Toe slope*Grass [0.30 and 0.45] than Foot slope*Grass [0.31 and 0.46] for LRS and SRS). During the wet months, CH₄, N₂O and CO₂ emission were significantly higher than the dry season. Methane fluxes ranged from -0.32 mg.m⁻².h⁻¹ to 0.24 mg.m⁻².h⁻¹ with the lowest (-0.32 mg.m⁻².h⁻¹) recorded under TS*T whereas CO₂ was highest under TS*G (47 mg.m⁻ ².h⁻¹) as compared to MS*G (19 mg.m-2.h-1). TZ*VC significantly influence N₂O with MS*B recording the lowest (0.008) as compared to TS*B (2.228 mg.m⁻².h⁻¹). CO₂, N₂O and CH₄ In the month of January and February emissions were low and it increased in March and April in all the TZ*VC. Topography and vegetation have an effect on soil organic carbon stocks and bulk density. Toe slope and grass significantly increased soil organic carbon stocks and reduced bulk density. Toe slope with grass significantly reduced both runoff and soil loss thus increased Soil water balance and improved runoff coefficient. Therefore, protection of slopes from raindrops can effectively reduce soil loss and runoff and enhance deposition in the mid slope and toe slope. The trends of soil CO₂, N₂O, and CH₄ fluxes were principally controlled by topography and plant cover, with larger soil CH₄ uptakes and CO₂ emissions on the toe slopes and foot slopes than in MS.

Keywords: bulk density, runoff, soil loss, soil water balance, soil organic carbon stocks, topographical zones, vegetation cover

Table of Contents

DECLARATIONi
DEDICATIONii
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTiii
GENERAL ABSTRACT iv
List of figuresix
List of tablesx
LIST OF ACRONYMS AND ABBREVIATIONS xii
CHAPTER ONE
GENERAL INTRODUCTION
1.1 Background information1
1.2 Statement of the problem
1.3 Justification of the study
1.4 Objectives
1.4.1 General objective,4
1.4.2 Specific objective,
1.5 Hypothesis
CHAPTER TWO
2.0 LITERATURE REVIEW
2.1 Wooded grassland
2.2 Vegetation types in wooded grassland savannah and their distribution
2.3 Soil organic carbon stocks, soil water balance and GHGs fluxes in wooded grasslands 7
2.3.1 Soil organic carbon stocks7
2.3.2 Soil water balances
2.3.3 Greenhouse gas fluxes

CHAPTER THREE	13
3.0 BULK DENSITY AND SOIL ORGANIC CARBON STOCKS AS INFLUENCED BY TOPOGRAPHY AND VEGETATION COVER AT DIFFERENT SOIL DEPTHS WOODED GRASSLANDS	13
3.1 INTRODUCTION	14
3.2 Materials and method	15
3.2.1 Study Site	15
3.2.2 Geography and topography	15
3.2.3 Study approach	17
3.2.5 Experimental layout and sampling	17
3.2.6 Soil sampling and analysis	19
3.2.7 Soil texture determination	19
3.2.8 Bulk Density (BD) determination	20
3.2.9 Soil reaction (pH) determination	21
3.2.10 Organic carbon (%OC) determination	21
3.3 Statistical analysis	22
3.4 Results and discussions	23
3.4.1 Influence of topography and vegetation cover types on soil bulk density (BD)	23
3.4.2 Soil organic carbon stocks as influenced by topographical zone and vegetation cover down the soil profile	types 26
3.5 Conclusions	29
CHAPTER FOUR	30
4.0 TOPOGRAPHY AND VEGETATION COVER INFLUENCES SOIL LOSS AND WATER BALANCE IN A WOODED GRASSLAND OF ARID AND SEMI ARID LANDS	30
4.1 Introduction	31
4.2 Materials and methods	32

4.2.1 Study Site	32
4.2.2 Research design	32
4.2.3 Vegetation cover types delimitation	32
4.2.4 Topography [% slope and elevation]	32
4.2.5 Experimental plot, Runoff and soil loss measurements	33
4.2.6 Evaporation/Evapotranspiration determination	33
4.2.7 Soil water balance determination	34
4.2.8 Runoff coefficient calculation [Rc]	34
4.2.9 Statistical analysis	34
4.3 Results	35
4.3.1 Evapotranspiration, Runoff, soil loss and water balance	35
4.3.2 Runoff coefficient during the long and short rainy seasons	37
4.3.3 Correlations	37
4.4 Discussions	39
4.4.1 Evapotranspiration, Runoff, soil loss and water balance	39
4.4.2 Runoff coefficient during the long and short rainy seasons	41
4.4.3 Correlations	41
4.5 Conclusions	42
CHAPTER FIVE	43
5.0 GREENHOUSE GAS FLUXES AS INFLUENCED BY TOPOGRAPHY AND VEGETATION COVER IN WOODED GRASSLANDS OF LAIKIPIA COUNTY, KENYA	43
5.1 Introduction	44
5.2 Materials and methods	45
5.2.1 Study Site	45
5.2.2 Research design	45

5.2.3 Land cover determination	47
5.2.4 Static chamber installation	47
5.2.5 Flux measurements	47
5.3 Statistical analysis	48
5.4 Results and discussion	49
5.4.1 Rainfall and temperature data	49
5.4.2 CO2, CH4, and N2O flows as a influenced by soil moisture	49
5.4.3 Effects of topographical zones and vegetation cover type on Methane (CH ₄) fluxes	51
5.4.4 Effects of topographical zones and vegetation cover type on carbon dioxide (CO ₂)	53
5.4.5 Effects of topographical zones and vegetation cover type on Nitrous oxide (N_2O)	54
5.5 Conclusion	56
CHAPTER SIX	57
6.0 GENERAL DISCUSSION, CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATIONS	57
6.1 General discussion	57
6.2 Conclusion	58
6.3 Recommendation	59

List of figures

Figure 2. 1:Wooded grassland (source Eldridge 2011)	5
Figure 3. 1 Map of Kanya showing position of Laikinia County and the study site Ilmotick	
community ranch Source Oiwang et al. 2010	16
community ration bource of wang et al., 2010	10
Figure 3. 2: Rainfall amounts received over the experimental period	17
Figure 4. 1 Runoff plots a] runoff plot b] drainpipe c] construction of the runoff plots d] water	
tank	33

Figure 4. 2 Runoff coefficient as influenced by topographical zones and vegetation cover across the LRS and SRS
Figure 4. 3: soil loss vs runoff
Figure 4. 4: soil water balance vs evapotranspiration
Figure 4. 5: Rainfall Vs Run off
Figure 4. 6: Static GHG chamber
List of tables
Table 2. 1 Classification of woody vegetation found in grasslands Source (Kindt et. al., 2015) 6
Table 3. 1: Experimental design 18
Table 3. 2: Land cover determination 19
Table 3. 3: Soil bulk density (BD) as influenced by topographical zone (TZ) and vegetation cover types (VC) at different depths 24
Table 3. 4: Soil organic carbon stocks (Mg/ha) as influenced by vegetation cover types (VC) and topographical zone (TZ) down the soil profile
Table 4. 1: Description of the Topographical zones 32
Table 4.2: Runoff, soil loss and soil water balance as influenced by topography and vegetation cover across the rainy seasons 36
Table 4. 3: Correlations
Table 4. 4: Research design
Table 4. 5: Land cover determination 47
Table 5. 1: Rainfall, maximum, average and minimum temperature 49
Table 5. 2: CO2, CH4, and N2O flows as a influenced by soil moisture
Table 5.3: Effects of topographical zones and vegetation cover type on Methane (CH4) emissions
Table 5. 4: Effects of topographical zones and vegetation cover type on carbon dioxide (CO2) mg.m-2.h-1
Table 5. 5: Effects of topographical zones and vegetation cover type on Nitrous oxide (N2O) 55

LIST OF ACRONYMS AND ABBREVIATIONS

GHG	Greenhouse Gases		
IPCC	Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change		
SOCs	Soil Organic Carbon stocks		
FAO	Food Agricultural Organization		
DayCent	Daily Century		
DNDC	Denitrification Decomposition		
CO_2	Carbon dioxide		
CH ₄	Methane		
N_2O	Nitrous oxide		
UNFCCC	United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change		
ETS	Emissions Trading Scheme		
UNDP	United Nations Development Programme		

CHAPTER ONE

GENERAL INTRODUCTION

1.1 Background information

Climate change globally is a factor of increased emissions of greenhouse gasses (GHG); such as nitrous oxide (N₂O), methane CH₄) and carbon dioxide (CO₂) largely contributed through anthropogenic activities (IPCC 2007). Soil carbon change is the key to climate variability and therefore, estimates of wooded grassland soil carbon stocks changes over the next century are of critical importance (Smith *et al.*, 2005). In Africa, grasslands cover ~50%, they play a vital role in C cycle and biodiversity. Nevertheless, contribution of African grasslands to human welfare and potential to fix carbon, remain poorly researched in comparison to other ecosystems (Jeltsch et al. 2017).

Most of the carbon storage studies have been done in natural forests (Shirima, 2009) and in agroforestry systems (Mugasha, 2009) and in forest plantations (Wesaka, 2009). Additionally, carbon stocks are often measured homogeneously at a point assessment but in contrast, wooded grasslands are heterogeneous (Nori 2006). An average measurement from diverse sample points to distinguish diverse environments is misrepresentative since the asymmetric distribution of carbon that characterizes wooded grassland is not captured (Kratli and Schareika 2010). Wooded grasslands are frequently characterized as spots in small catchments and within each spot; there is a spatial distinction of SOC determined by topographic properties (Tan *et al.* 2004). Wooded grasslands have experienced soils and vegetation degradation resulting from human encroachment and associated land use activities (Manjarrez- Dominguez *et al.*, 2015). Hence, wooded grassland ecosystem as carbon sinks has shrunk in size due to continuous degradation (Bai *et al.*, 2008).

Soil GHGs fluxes change basically over space and time driven by soil biological activities, ecological surroundings, heterogeneousness of soil properties as well as spatial variability in available nutrients and root distribution (Butterbach-Bahl *et al.*, 2013). However, research on the exchange greenhouse gases (methane CH₄, carbon dioxide CO₂, and nitrous oxide N₂O) remains still scanty for wooded grasslands compared to other ecosystems known to sequester significant amounts of carbon (Merbold and Wohlfahrt 2012). Reliable evaluations of soil carbon stock are required in light of the fact that soil carbon stock changes are a portion of the national GHG inventories guided under UNFCCC and Kyoto Protocol (Rantakari *et al 2007*). Determination of fluxes using soil chamber techniques (non–steady-state) contribute towards uncertainty in gas concentration measurements due to sampling and analytical error

(Parkin *et al* 2010). Therefore, quantification of N_2O , CH₄ and CO₂ emissions from grasslands is important for a more accurate assessment using other methods justify (Saggar *et al.*, 2007).

Laikipia County Government (2013–2017) demonstrates that most vulnerable territories to climate change event are the semi-arid lands of Kenya. Erratic and low rainfall and high levels of potential evapotranspiration, poor plant growth and productivity characterize these areas. (García et al., 2014). Climatically, wooded grasslands in semi-arid lands are described by outrageous high temperatures (D'Odorico and Porporato, 2006) and unpredictable precipitation incidences that are of high intensity and brief length(Wei et al., 2007). However, few studies have been done to evaluate the water balance in the wooded grassland on account of its heterogeneous vegetative nature, therefore the capability of the respective vegetation to water storage is limited and hence undermining conservation measures (Gremer et al., 2015). Thus far, measurements of SOC stock changes in the field are limited by their inherent spatial variability at numerous scales (Conant and Paustian, 2002). Therefore, climatic parameters - due to their easy availability - and remotely sensed data are mostly employed by researchers at various scales, to estimate SOCs (Liu et al. 2012). Models have also been applied to forecast GHG emissions for different soils, climatic conditions and farm management in a number of regions across the world (Leip et al., 2008). Therefore, not much is known on possible carbon storage, water balance and greenhouse gases emissions in wooded grassland ecosystems of Laikipia County. Against these backdrops, this study investigated the influence of topography and vegetation cover on soil organic carbon stocks, water balance and greenhouse gas fluxes in wooded grasslands of Laikipia County, Kenya.

1.2 Statement of the problem

Climate change globally has been associated with increased emissions of greenhouse gases due to anthropogenic (human) activities (IPCC 2007). Wooded grassland ecosystem as carbon sinks to alleviate greenhouse gases emissions have reduced due to degradation (Bai *et al.*, 2008). Soil carbon stocks measurements in wooded grassland are often done in a single assessment oblivious of its heterogeneous nature (spatial and temporal) (Nori 2006) and thence inaccurate asymmetric distribution of carbon that characterizes wooded grassland is not captured (Kratli and Schareika 2010). Few studies have been done to evaluate the water balance in the wooded grassland on account of its heterogeneous vegetative nature,

therefore the capacity of the respective vegetation to store water is limited and hence undermining conservation measures (Gremer *et al.*, 2015).

In addition, direct measurement of SOC is destructive to the soil, time-consuming and experimental determination of SOC changes in the field is also limited by its inherent spatial variability(Conant and Paustian, 2002). Information on fluxes of the major greenhouse gases (nitrous oxide N₂O) carbon dioxide CO₂, and methane CH₄ still scanty for wooded grasslands (Merbold and Wohlfahrt 2012) and hence lack of reliable estimates of greenhouse gases that is mandatory as part of the national GHG records recorded under Kyoto Protocol and UNFCCC (Rantakari *et al., 2007)*. Large uncertainty exists in monitoring of gas fluxes (CO₂, CH₄ and N₂O) at a regional scale (Chapuis-Lardy *et al.,* 2007), the non–steady-state soil chamber technique of GHGs measurements over a fixed time interval contribute towards uncertainty in gas concentration measurements hence expensive and time-consuming (Tuomi *et al.* 2011). Topography influences climatic conditions, soil formation runoff, erosion seed migration and soil water infiltration, and thus affects vegetation distribution (Moeslundetal., 2013, Grzyl, Kiedrzyński, Zielińska, and Rewicz, 2014)

1.3 Justification of the study

It is important to determine carbon storage capacity of wooded grassland taking into account the heterogeneity of wooded grassland and thus determinations of SOCs changes in wooded grassland are of perilous importance since they are the key drivers of climate change. Therefore, accurate measurement of the soil organic carbon and GHGs fluxes is critical in assessment of SOCs, SWB and GHG budget of terrestrial ecosystems for interventions. Good understanding of the relationships between SOCs, SWB and GHGs fluxes with wooded grassland topography and vegetation cover types would be helpful in the management of wooded grassland for improved carbon sequestration and development of global warming mitigation measures, soil water balance management.

1.4 Objectives

1.4.1 General objective,

To determine the influence of topography and vegetation cover types on soil organic carbon stocks, soil water balance and greenhouse gas fluxes for accurate reporting and sustainable management of wooded grasslands

1.4.2 Specific objective,

- i. To determine the influence of topography and vegetation cover on soil organic carbon stocks in wooded grasslands
- ii. To determine the effects of topography and vegetation cover on soil water balance in wooded grasslands
- iii. To determine topographical and vegetation cover influence on carbon dioxide, nitrous oxide and methane, gas fluxes

1.5 Hypothesis

- i. Topography and vegetation cover have an influence on soil organic carbon stocks in wooded grasslands
- ii. Topography and vegetation cover have an influence on soil water balance in wooded grasslands
- iii. Topography and vegetation cover have an influence on methane, carbon dioxide, and nitrous oxide, gas fluxes in wooded grasslands

CHAPTER TWO

2.0 LITERATURE REVIEW

2.1 Wooded grassland

Wooded grasslands are ae characterized by a continuous grass cover with dwarf trees, palm trees trees(\geq 7 m tall), and or shrubs (\leq 2 m) covering between 10 and 40 percent of the ground, with growth patterns that are closely linked to sporadic rainy and dry periods ((Eldridge 2011, Kindt *et al.*, 2015) (Fig. 2.1)..



Figure 2. 1:Wooded grassland (source Eldridge 2011)

In Eastern Africa, 75% of the grassland is dominated by either grassland or grassland with changing measures of woody vegetation inside or over the grass layer giving ascend to wooded grassland (Reid *et al.*, 2005). Woody plant intrusion into grass-dominated ecosystems has been vital driver to global land cover changes over a century(Asner et al., 2003). Throughout the world woody plants have increased in savannas and grasslands, and this has altered the abundances of woody due to the interactive changes in climatic, fire regimes and grazing and a (Jackson *et al.* 2002). Woody encroachment and thickening have converted grassland to woodland (Van Auken, 2009). Increase in woody plant density has been a problematic issue in grassland and savanna, ecosystems trees, shrubs and thicket species occupy open

grasslands condense up in wooded areas forming woodlands (Saintilan and Rogers 2015). Woody plant invasion has taken place in many parts of the world; Africa included (Sankaran *et al.* 2005). Recently, intensification in woody cover has been detected in savannas globally (De Boer *et al.*, 2011). Wood plants increase has been owed to overgrazing, thus increasing grass impermanence and favoring woody vegetation (Kindt *et al.*, 2015) (Table 2.1). Soil water use rises with CO₂ (De Boer *et al.*, 2011), , increased concentration of CO₂ leads to a change in grass –tree water competition (Kgope *et al.*, 2010). In African savannas, ecological condition, alters CO₂ concentration in turn affects woody plant growth (Bond *et al.*, 2010). These alterations have a greater effect on overall precipitation and biogeochemical cycles and overall productivity of grasslands (IPCC, 2007).

Type of woody	Stand	Height of	Location	land coverage
vegetation		trees		
Closed forest	Continuous	10m	Central region, Rift Valley of	1,247,400ha
	stand		Kenya and few in the coastal and	
			western region	
Woodlands	Open stand	<8m	Transition Between semi-	2,092,600 ha
			humid and semi-arid -Rift	
			Valley, Coastal region and	
			traces in North-eastern region	
Bushland	Open stand	3-7 m	North Eastern, Coast, Rift	24,629,400 ha
			Valley, and Eastern regions	
Shrub lands	Open/closed	2m	Unknown	Unknown
Wooded	Trees	\geq 7 m	ASALs of Rift Valley, North	10,600,000 ha
grassland			Eastern and Eastern regions	
	Bushes	3 - 7 m		
	trees/shrubs	$\leq 2 m$		
	/Dwarf trees			

 Table 2. 1 Classification of woody vegetation found in grasslands Source (Kindt et. al., 2015)

2.2 Vegetation types in wooded grassland savannah and their distribution

Vegetation cover types can be classified based on through reference to its traits but their distribution spatially is primarily determined by rain and soil features (Stavi et al., 2008). Remote sensing technology provides a concrete and efficient means of studying changes in vegetation cover, in larger areas (Langley et al. 2001). Mapping and classification of vegetation are key for ecological resources management since it provides the basis for human and thus have a key role in climate change globally by affecting GHG emissions (Xiao et al. 2004). Woody cover mapping over huge areas is achievable through the use of remotely sensed data and techniques. In addition, the only feasible technique of mapping and monitoring woody vegetation cover over large zones are Earth Observation (EO) technologies. On the other hand, to map and monitor the extent of woody cover and its temporal changes landsat data have been employed (Symeonakis and Higginbottom, 2014). Grassland mapping and detection is mainly integrated in land cover classification initiatives at global, national and regional scales (Halabuk 2015). Mapping of vegetation cover types via remotely sensed data could then be a good start for documentation of the vegetation categories that exist and it requires less time as compared to when only field investigations are used (Schmidt et al. 2004). Advantages of remote sensing coupled with Geographic Information Systems (GIS) in mapping, monitoring and detecting land use land cover dynamics was acknowledged by other Researchers (Rouchdi et. al., 2008). In ecosystem mapping approach factors, such as; landform, climates, floral and faunal are often emphasized (Olson et al., 2001). Remote sensing method in combination with satellite imagery approach is often used in global land cover datasets creatin describing spatial patterns in vegetation, abiotic and anthropogenic features (Bontemps et al., 2011).

2.3 Soil organic carbon stocks, soil water balance and GHGs fluxes in wooded grasslands

2.3.1 Soil organic carbon stocks

Soil organic carbon is the constituent part organic matter that contains plant and animal residues produced by soil microbes at exclusive stages of decomposition (Esmaeilzadeh and Ahangar, 2014). Soil organic carbon (SOC) plays essential position in improving soil quality in ecosystems and mitigating global warming through soil carbon (C) sequestration (Zornoza et al., 2015). SOC is of significantly importance in soils due to its high cation exchange capability (CEC) which impacts plant nutrients availability and microbes' activity (Liao et al., 2015). Soil carbon storage plays a key part on lowering global warming and climate change (Singh and Ryan, 2015). Soil consists of the third largest global carbon stock and releases approximately 4% of its pool into environment yearly (Li et al., 2014).

Generally, wooded grassland soils can sequester approximately 194 billion tons Carbon, accounting for 8 percent of the world soil carbon (IPCC, 2001). Carbon sequestered in soils is the major C pool in most terrestrial systems sequestering approximately 1500 Pg C doubling the entirety of carbon in the atmosphere and thrice the amount in vegetation (Lal, 2004). Large acreage covers of perennial vegetation in grasslands account for the potential to sequester carbon due to high residue inputs and reduced turnover (Blair *et al.*, 2006). Soil organic carbon concentration is the main constituent of soil organic carbon stock (Don *et al.*, 2007), and its spatial distribution is linked to variations in ecological aspects (Wheeler *et al.*, 2007; Throop and Archer, 2008).

Though most of the studies give emphasis to the spatial variability of the soil organic carbon stock (Fang *et al.*, 2010; Matsuura *et al.*, 2012), there is still insufficient data in this respect, particularly wooded savannah biomes. In wooded grasslands, the type and diversity of plant species play a key role in carbon transfer into the soil (Steinbeiss *et al.*, 2008). The topography collectively with elevation, performs vital role in respect to temperature and moisture content because of variations in microclimate impacts the distribution of plants and soil properties (Bochet, 2015). The temperature reduction with slope decreases organic matter decomposition rates than litter production, and consequently increases the buildup of SOC that plays a key part as sink for atmospheric CO_2 that is stored in soils as SOC (Banwart et al., 2015). Topographical position can also affect stocks in that it increases along the toe slope because of the deposition of soil eroded from higher topographic positions or decrease at higher topographical positions because of erosion or, in the case of significant elevation adjustments, corresponding changes in the climatic situations (Fernández-Romero et al., 2014).

Topography, climate and soil factors as drivers of spatial heterogeneity of SOC content in Semi-Arid grassland ecosystems are misinterpreted (Yang *et al.*, 2014). Garcia-Pausas *et al.* (2007) stated that topographic zones are vital factors for accurate estimates of soil carbon stocks in grassland. Carbon sequestration is responsible for moderation of the increase in atmospheric carbon dioxide but the exact size and distribution of this sink for remain unclear (Janssens *et al.*, 2003). To offer governments and other stakeholders with the fundamentals for operative policy drafting with regard to Emissions Trading Scheme (ETS) soil researchers are faced with the challenge of ascertaining and computing the fluxes of soil GHGs,

therefore, steady, implementable and cheaper methodologies and procedures for monitoring SOC stocks need to be developed (Eleanor and Willgo 2010).

Additionally, IPCC 2007 report projected that approximately 5 GtCO₂-eqyr⁻¹ is stored in soils (Smith *et al.* 2007). SOCs has been taken as part of a resolution to increasing atmospheric levels of CO₂ (Lorenz *et al.* 2007). Reduction of carbon dioxide emissions could be reduce the effects of global warming and thus increased SOCs globally (Solomon *et al.*, 2007). Assessing soil carbon changes is difficult due spatial variability of carbon stocks (Tuomi *et al.* 2011). Procedures should be implemented to minimize the influence of spatial variability with repetitive sampling over time (Conant and Paustian, 2002). Gas concentration measurements errors results from errors arising from both sampling and analysis\ (Parkin *et al.*, 2010).

2.3.2 Soil water balances

Calculating the hydrological balance in ASALs is critical as climate variability and water shortage bring about water use conflicts (G untner et al., 2004). The soil water balance of ASALs catchment is expressed using direct and base flow factors from topography, soils, plants, land use and weather (Güntner and Bronstert, 2004). Soil water infiltration is an element of aboveground biomass (increase with biomass) and precipitation, water is dispersed from top soil to the diverse layers whereas excess water is drained to subsoil (Falloon 2001). Soil characteristics have an effect on soil water content but direct measurement of soil water content is hard, costly and consumes time for researchers particularly on a relatively large scale (Wang et al., 2018). Most regional investigations of SOC dynamics also overlook exchanges between spatial units, which are important for procedures such as water, soil erosion and vaporous element transmissions (Conant and Paustian 2002). soil moisture content changes over time are higher under tree coverage than grasses (Wilson 2000). Soil water content temporal patterns differ among various types of vegetation nonetheless the magnitude and direction of different vegetation types is uncertain(Sarah et al., 2003). For a good strategic management of water resource for sustainable land use in arid and semi-arid zones, as well as for soil and water conservation it is important to Estimate of soil water content in deep soil profiles (Aijuan et al., 2016). Soil water content, have an effect on GHG emission rate (Alejandro et al., 2010).

Measuring the water budget in ASALs is vital as climatic variability and water scarceness often lead to fights concerning water uses (Benke *et al.*, 2008). Water resources in ASALs have received little attention

mainly due to lack of experimental data (Andersen, 2008). Numerous approaches have been applied to estimate the components of water phases with varying degrees of success (Song *et al.*, 2009).

The hydrological procedures are normally determined by way of vegetation, topography and soil characteristics (Pellant *et al.*, 2005). The plants, landscape and soil are closely linked to infiltration, soil loss and runoff (Wilcox, *et al.*, 2006). Increasing the plant cover has been widely endorsed for its various benefits, which include soil loss regulation, runoff and sediment decrease, as well as hydrological regime regulation (Yu *et al.*, 2013). The plant droppings, roots and cover are believed to have an upshot on the soil loss by using obstructing crust formation, leading to an increase in the extent of interception, a lowering in raindrop power, and a growth within the soil's capacity to absorb up rain (Durán, *et al.*, 2008). Vegetation decreases runoff by improving the surface roughness and soil pore spaces. Additionally, plants stabilize the soil with their roots and decrease the raindrops impact with their cover (Aghabeigi Amin *et al.*, 2011). Improving plant cover can led to runoff generation and erosion manipulate (Cantón, *et al.*, 2011). The quantity of water infiltrating the soil surface has a direct impact on soil and groundwater recharge and the runoff (Liu et al., 2012). Aghabeigi Amin *et al.*, (2014) showed that topography have strongly and significantly affected runoff and sediment yield. Slope period and steepness and rainfall depth, are crucial factors influencing runoff and soil loss.

2.3.3 Greenhouse gas fluxes

In spite of the fact that the affects vegetation cover on the global average surface albedo and on the environmental concentration of CO_2,N_2O) and CH_4 has been incorporated into international climate change appraisals (IPCC, 2001). Less consideration has been paid to the role different in local temperatures, precipitation, vegetation and other climatic factors, especially in ASALs (Keppler et al., 2006). Grasslands play part in climate and overall C. cycle globally (Saggar *et al.*, 2007). CO2 and CH4emissions resulting from the break-down of organic matter in soil contributes to about 20% of the global warming (Thum *et al.*, 2011). Facts on the conversation of GHGs; CO_2,N_2O) and CH_4 still remains inadequate for wooded savannah, while other ecologies sequestering huge quantities of carbon have been explored (Merbold and Wohlfahrt 2012) and thus monitoring gas fluxes at a regional scale result exists large uncertainty (Chapuis-Lardy *et al.*, 2007). Henceforth, it was important to quantify N_2O , CH_4 and CO_2 emissions from grasslands for a more precise assessment and to gain a better understanding of the grassland ecosystems potential for climate change mitigation in future (Saggar *et al.*, 2007).

GHG emissions changes approximation procedures have been developed, nevertheless, the commended Tier I, resulted to substantial faults from certain conditions and other factors emission (IPCC, 2006). Tier II developed for agricultural systems in some countries, depending on specific measurements of a country-provided a more accurate estimations of emission but may not apply for climate change projections since they were developed from specific climatic conditions (Smith *et al.* 2010). Soil biomass estimation can be a significant component of biomass studies of grassland but field-based measurements are laborious and difficult (IPCC 2004). With the help of organic matter turnover simulation models, allow forecasting of SOCs changes as a result of climate change (Knorr *et al.* 2005) will be possible. Soil carbon models are used as an substitute to counterpart repetitive SOC records and report soil carbon stock changes (Peltoniemi 2006).

Nitrous oxide flux rates and production of from the soil are determined basically by reactive N availability , soil aeration and diffusivity (Balaine et al. 2013), which can be associated with soil water content and texture. Soil pH, carbon and temperature, , changes with land-use slope position and soil texture (Baggs and Philippot, 2010), thus effect N₂O production. soil emissions have proceeded to increase annually and therefore should be taken into consideration as one among the most important contributors of CO_2 emission to the atmosphere (Bond-Lamberty and Thomson, 2010). The surroundings within have unique variables which increases soil respirations (Raich and Tufekcioglu, 2000). Soils rich in organic carbon have an increased decomposition rate thus increasing the soil respiration (Bailey *et al.*, 2009). SOC provides essential power for soil microorganisms responsible for denitrification (Farquharson and Baldock, 2008), and has been related to elevated soil N2O emissions (Mander *et al.*, 2008). SOC in addition creates condition best for anaerobic microbial through reduction O_2 via growing cardio microbial activity (Farquharson and Baldock, 2008).

Plant cover effectively slows down microbial denitrification, through absorption of the available nitrogen and reducing soil temperature (Fortier *et al.*, 2010). But according to Picek *et al.* (2007) GHG emissions increased due to vegetation and increased microbial decomposition of the root exudates. Denitrification is driven by the carbon within the soil (Mander et al., 2008). Moreover, increased N₂O emissions have been reported in grassed as compared to tree cover (Kim et al., 2009). Vegetation is the primary nitrogen sinks and influencer of soil NO₃-concentration (Compton *et al.*, 2003). Soil CH₄ emissions in natural systems had been proven to differ with vegetation cover (Smith *et al.*, 2003). few studies have been conducted on soil CH₄ emissions from wooded grasslands; but depending on the soil moisture act as sinks and source of Methane (Teiter and Mander, 2005). Vegetation cover and \ density magnitude have led to an influence on soil CO₂-C emissions, since reduced vegetation cover results into favorable conditions for soil respiration, and density improves on root respiration (Shresthra et al., 2009). Increased plant litter and organic residues lead to improved decomposition and thus CO₂ emissions (Oelbermann et al., 2015). Reduced vegetation cover also leads to increased soil CO₂ emissions, as reduced vegetation cover result into favorable soil situations for respiration (Shresthra et al., 2009).

CHAPTER THREE

3.0 BULK DENSITY AND SOIL ORGANIC CARBON STOCKS AS INFLUENCED BY TOPOGRAPHY AND VEGETATION COVER AT DIFFERENT SOIL DEPTHS WOODED GRASSLANDS

Abstract

Data on soil organic carbon stock (SOCs) in wooded grassland is important for assessing its contribution towards offsetting greenhouse gas emissions through carbon sequestration. Understanding the topographical and vegetation cover effect on SOCs and bulk density is therefore essential for adopting suitable strategies for reducing greenhouse gases emissions but little has been done to ascertain this. A study was therefore conducted during the short (SRS)and long rainy (LRS) seasons of 2016 in wooded grasslands of Ilmotiok community ranch in Laikipia County to determine the topographical and vegetation cover effects on soil organic carbon stocks (SOCs) and bulk density (BD) at different depths. Randomized completely block design was used; the main plot was topographical zones (TZ); mid slopes (MS), foot slope (FS), toe slope (TS) and subplots vegetation cover (VC); tree (TR), grass (GR), bare (BR). Three transect lines (replicates) of 150 m across the different topographical zones was drawn, blocking was done after every 50m. Soil sampling was done on $1m^2$ along the transect zigzag style to a depth of 50 cm at an interval of 10 cm using soil auger. The samples analysis for texture, bulk density (BD) and soil organic carbon (SOC) concentration was done in the lab. SOCs were calculated from BD and SOC concentration and respective depths.TZ, VC, depth and TZ*VC significantly (p<0.05) influenced BD and SOCs. There was a significantly higher bulk at MS (1.03 g/cm³ and 1.00 g/cm³) but not significantly different from TS (1.02 g/cm³ and 0.92 g/cm³) with FS having the lowest value (0.97 g/cm³ and 0.88 g/cm³) for LRS and SRS respectively. Vegetation cover significantly (P <0.05) influence with highest bulk density recorded under BR (1.04 and 0.96 gcm⁻³) which was not significantly different from TR (1.01 and 0.92 gcm⁻³) and significantly higher than GR (0.97 and 0.92 gcm⁻³) for LRS and SRS respectively. The interaction of topography and vegetation significantly influence bulk density with highest value recorded under FS*BR (1.11 and 1.03 gcm⁻³) for LRS and SRS respectively. Highest soil organic carbon stocks were recorded at the TS (6.40 MgHa⁻¹ and 6.51 MgHa⁻¹) as compared to other zones though not significantly different from MS (6.16 MgHa-1 and 6.46 MgHa-1) but significantly different from FS (5.29 MgHa-1 and 5.93 MgHa-1). SOCs under GR (6.31 MgHa-1 and 6.53 MgHa-1) were slightly higher than other vegetation cover, the lowest was recorded under BR (5.76 MgHa-1 and 6.02 MgHa-1) for LRS and SRS respectively. The upper soil depth (0-10) had (8.70 MgHa-1 and 8.74 MgHa-1) compared to the lower depth (40-50) with (3.52 MgHa-1 and 4.07 MgHa-1). Topography and vegetation have an effect on soil organic carbon stocks and bulk density. Toe slope and grass significantly increased soil organic carbon stocks and reduced bulk density.

Keywords: carbon sequestration; topographical zones; vegetation cover; wooded grassland

3.1 INTRODUCTION

Wooded grassland holds great potential for carbon sequestration that is vital in global climate change mitigation through removal of atmospherically carbon by higher than ground biomass and transferred into vegetation and soil pool for future storage (Yafeng et al., 2011). In Kenya, wooded grasslands savanna is primarily placed within the ASALs that represent over 80 percent of the entire area (UNDP, 2009). Data on SOCs by vegetation type is vital for the enactment of policies for reducing emissions from forest degradation and deforestation (REDD+) but, unfortunately, there is no data on SOCs and biomass (Amara *et al.*, 2019). They therefore are vital in mitigating global climate change. Currently there is a widespread acknowledgement that exploiting soil C storage offers a theoretically essential way of offsetting atmospheric C levels and thus aid in alleviating the effects of climate change induced by anthropogenetic (Smith, 2012; IPCC, 2014). However, their potential has not been totally assessed because wooded grasslands are heterogeneous, each in temporal and spatial dimensions (Yafeng et al., 2011). The spatial heterogeneousness results from the changes in micro-climate, physical landforms and precipitation which creates an inclined distribution of soil wetness and nutrients that influence carbon sequestration whereas time-based heterogeneousness arises from seasonal distinction in productivity influenced by variation in vegetation patterns (Nori 2006).

The spatial pattern of SOC concentration is influenced by topography through their influence on soil and vegetation cover distribution (Nori 2006). Topographic positions are therefore necessary factors for precise estimates of C stocks in wooded grassland savanna. In addition, vegetation is taken into account as a main factor regulating SOC stocks in ASAL wooded grasslands savanna. In this savanna, the plant species type and variety play a key role in soil carbon transfer (Steinbeiss et al., 2008). Often estimations of soil carbon stocks in wooded grassland savanna seldom take into account the difficulties ensuing from wooded grassland non-uniformity and therefore adopt homogeneity (Dabasso et al. 2014). Past studies conducted in wooded grasslands of Arid and Semi-arid areas took them as uniform zones aside from heterogeneous zones with completely different geographic zones and vegetation cover types (Dabasso et al. 2014).

Hence, most studies done at numerous scales to approximate SOC exploitation simply obtained., environmental condition, and remotely perceived information. Thus, results in inaccurate reporting of the carbon sequestration and false illustration of the wooded grasslands savanna. Additionally, most analysis has primarily targeted on the relation of SOC stocks to environmental conditions, changes of SOC stocks underneath ever-changing climate conditions and management (Don et al. 2011). To enhance on the accurate value of regional carbon budgets and development of effective ecological restoration measures hence it is necessity to include and perceive wooded grassland as non-uniformity and thus have different spatial pattern characteristics (Wang et al., 2018). Therefore, this study determined the influence of topography and vegetation cover of wooded grassland savannah on soil organic carbon stocks at different soil depths.

3.2 Materials and method

3.2.1 Study Site

3.2.2 Geography and topography

The research was carried out in Kenya's Laikipia County's Ilmotiok community ranch. The ranch lies between latitudes (00 17 S) and (00 45 N) and longitudes 36015E and 37020 E. The County is located across the Equator (Figure 3.1) and covers 9500 km² and is part of the larger Ewaso Ng'iro Ecosystem. The ecosystem stretches from the slopes of Mt. Kenya (5199 m) in the south to the margin of the Great Rift Valley. Its escarpment descends into the parched terrain of northern Kenya in the west [Ojwang et al., 2010, Lalampa et al., 2016].



Figure 3. 1 Map of Kenya showing position of Laikipia County and the study site Ilmotiok community ranch Source Ojwang et al., 2010

Laikipia County has a two rainfall patterns, with long rains forecasted from April to May and short rains expected in August and October (Jaeztold and Schmidt 2006). The rain, on the other hand, is highly erratic and could fall at any moment during the year. The rainfall in Laikipia is relief-type, with Mt. Kenya and the Nyandarua Ranges exerting significant effect [Aberdare Ranges].

The rainfall distribution and pattern during the study period was recorded using a rain gauge placed at Mpala research Centre (Fig. 3.2), 1 km away from the exploratory plots [Ilmotiok community ranch].



Figure 3. 2: Rainfall amounts received over the experimental period

The vegetation of the area is a mosaic of dry forests, woodland, wooded grassland and grasslands, which is a reflection of rainfall, soil, topographical gradients and human activities. Ranching, ranching and wildlife, farming, pastoralism and cultivation, pastoralism and wildlife, woodlands, wetlands, and urban centers are among the area's socioeconomic activities. The wetter southern parts of the county are mostly occupied by small-scale arable farmers, while commercial cattle ranchers occupy the intermediate areas, and pastoralists use the dry north [Ojwang et al. 2010].

3.2.3 Study approach

The study consisted of soil sampling and analysis.

3.2.5 Experimental layout and sampling

RCBD with split plot arrangement was used; with variation in topographical levels; mid slope (MS), foot slope (FS) and toe slope (TS) as the main plots and the subplots were the vegetation cover types; Tree (T), Grass (G) and Bare (B) as the control. Blocking was done along the transect line after every 50m. A total three transect line measuring 150m long were drawn for each topographical zone as replicates (Table 3.1). The assessments of soil BD, SOC concentration and SOCs were done for two consecutive rainy seasons of long (LRS) and short rain seasons (SRS) in of 2016.

Table 3. 1: Experimental design

	150 in transect line				
Zone	Rep	Block 1	Block 2	Block 3	
		50m	50m	50m	
Mid slope	Rep 1	GTGGTG BGTTG	TGBTTGTGTGBB	GTGGTG BGTTG	
	Rep 2	GTGBBGTGTGB	TTGTGTGBBBG	TGBTTGTGTGBB	
	Rep 3	GTGGTG BGTTG	GTGBBGTGTGB	TGBTTGTGTGBB	
••••••					
Foot slope	Rep 1	GTGGTG BGTTG	TGBTTGTGTGBB	GTGGTG BGTTG	
	Rep 2	GTGBBGTGTGB	TTGTGTGBBBG	TGBTTGTGTGBB	
	Rep 3	GTGGTG BGTTG	GTGBBGTGTGB	TGBTTGTGTGBB	
Toe slope	Rep 1	GTGGTG BGTTG	TGBTTGTGTGBB	GTGGTG BGTTG	
	Rep 2	GTGBBGTGTGB	TTGTGTGBBBG	TGBTTGTGTGBB	
	Rep 3	GTGGTG BGTTG	GTGBBGTGTGB	TGBTTGTGTGBB	

150 m transect line

Table 5. 2: Land cover determina

Land cover type	Abbrev.	Units	How and tools used
Tree	Т	% Area	Visual estimate based on the (20x20 m) subplot area
Grass	G	% Area	Visual estimate based on the (20x20 m) subplot area
Bare	В	% Area	Visual estimate based on the (20x20 m) subplot area

3.2.2 Topography (% slope and elevation)

Percentage slope was estimated using clinometer and dynamic telescopic measuring rod, while elevation was measured using GPS receiver.

3.2.6 Soil sampling and analysis

Sample were taken at 50 m intervals in the transect line 3 sampling points were identified from an area of 1 m^2 . Samples were taken from a depth of 0-50 cm at an interval of 10 cm in in a Zigzag style using a soil auger. 500 g sample was pooled into a small paper bag from three sub-samples collected from the sampling points then mixed, and labeled to indicate vegetation type and topographical position. The samples were analyzed for soil texture, pH and Soil Organic Carbon (SOC).

3.2.7 Soil texture determination

Hydrometer method was used to determined soil texture. The samples with Calgon solution were shaken for 6 hours in a mechanical shaker. After 40 seconds measurement of silt plus clay was done and after 2 hours clay. the difference obtained from the two became sand fraction. USDA textural triangle was used to read textural classes (Fig.3. 2)



Figure 3.2: Soil textural triangle (Source: Okalebo 2002)

3.2.8 Bulk Density (BD) determination

Core rings with known dimensions were used to collect the samples. Coring ring were driven the into the soil using hand sledge and a block of wood to take the soil samples at each depth. Methodology described by Cresswell and Hamilton (2002) was used to analyze soil BD. Oven dried container was weighed before

the soil was transferred. Then the container and soil were dried for 24 hours in the oven at 105° C. The soil and container were cooled after removing from the oven in a desiccator then weighed and recorded.

Soil BD (g/cm^3) then calculated as shown (Eq 3.1):

BD Sample = <u>ODW Sample</u> CV Sample (Equation 3.1)

Where;

BD Sample is the bulk density (g cm-³) of the soil sample, ODW Sample the mass (g) of oven dried soil core and CV Sample core volume (cm³) of the soil sample.

3.2.9 Soil reaction (pH) determination

Glass electrode pH meter was used to measure the pH on 1: 2.5 ($^{W}/_{v}$) soil suspended of in water, shaken for 30 minutes (Okalebo et al., 2002).

3.2.10 Organic carbon (%OC) determination

Walkley-Black method was used to estimate% OC (Black, 1965). 1 g of ground soil sieved through 0.5mm was weighed into a labeled digestion tube of 100 ml. 10 ml potassium dichromate 5% solution was added and till the soil became wet. 5 ml H_2SO_4 was carefully and slowly using burette and the mixture was then swirled gently to mix. digestion of the mixture was done for 30 min at 150 °C. cooling of the mixture was then allowed, then 50 ml of barium chloride 0.4% added, swirled to mix thoroughly, and the volume was made to 100 ml mark. A supernatant aliquot of the solution was transferred into a colorimeter cuvette, absorbance of the standard, the blank and sample were measured.

Total organic carbon was calculated as follows equation 3.2;



W - Weight of Sample, a - Blank Titre value, b - Titre value of the Sample

Soil organic carbon stock calculations

SOC stock (Mgha⁻¹=SOC (%) X Bulk density (gcm³) x soil depth (cm) x cf (Equation 3.3) Where:

SOC – concentration of soil organic carbon (%); BD– bulk density (g/cm³); SD – topsoil depth (cm). *cf* is the conversion factor = (kg cm⁻³) × (10,000 cm² m⁻²) × (10,000 m² ha⁻¹).

3.3 Statistical analysis

analysis of variance (ANOVA) for the obtained data was done using General Statistics (GENSTAT) package version 19. The differences among the treatment means of the interaction of different topographical zones and vegetation cover types was compared using Fisher's Protected LSD test at 5% probability level.

3.4 Results and discussions

3.4.1 Influence of topography and vegetation cover types on soil bulk density (BD)

There was significant (P <0.05) effect of topography, vegetation cover and depth and topography vegetation cover interaction on soil bulk density (Table 3.3). There was a significantly higher bulk at MS (1.03 g/cm3 and 1.00 g/cm3) but not significantly different from TS (1.02 and 0.92 gcm⁻³g/cm3) with FS having the lowest value (0.97 and 0.88 gcm⁻³) for LRS and SRS respectively. Vegetation cover significantly different from TR (1.01 and 0.92 gcm⁻³) and significantly higher than GR (0.97 and 0.92 gcm⁻³) which was not significantly different from TR (1.01 and 0.92 gcm⁻³) and significantly higher than GR (0.97 and 0.92 gcm⁻³) for LRS and SRS respectively. The bulk density was highest at 40-50 cm with a mean of (1.11 and 1.04 gcm⁻³) and lowest bulk density was observed at 0-10 cm (0.90 gcm⁻³ and 0.81 gcm⁻³) for LRS and SRS respectively. The interaction of topography and vegetation significantly influence bulk density with highest value recorded under FS*BR (1.11 g/cm3 and 1.03 g/cm3) for LRS and SRS respectively as compared to other interactions.
			Short Rain Seas	son	Long	g Rain Season	
	FS		0.97^{a}			0.88 ^a	
T ZONE	MS		1.03 ^b			0.92 ^a	
I_ZONE	TS		1.02 ^b			1.00 ^b	
	BR		1.04 ^b			0.96 ^b	
	GR		0.97^{a}			0.92 ^a	
V_COVER	TR		1.01 ^b			0.92 ^a	
	0-10		0.90^{a}			0.81 ^a	
	10-20		0.95 ^a			0.87^{b}	
	20-30		1.01 ^b			0.95 ^c	
DEPTH	30-40		1.06 ^{bc}			1.00 ^c	
	40-50		1.11 ^c			1.04 ^d	
		BR	GR	TR	BR	GR	TR
	FS	1.11 ^e	0.83 ^a	0.95^{b}	1.03 ^c	1.00 ^c	0.96 ^{bc}
TZ*VC	MS	0.98^{bc}	1.08 ^{de}	1.03^{bcde}	0.96 ^{bc}	0.87^{a}	0.92^{ab}
	TS	1.02 ^{bcd}	0.99^{bcd}	1.05 ^{cde}	0.88^{a}	0.88^{a}	0.90^{ab}

Table 3. 3: Soil bulk density (BD) as influenced by topographical zone (TZ) and vegetation cover types (VC) at different depths

T.Z – Topography zone, V.C – Vegetation Cover, FS-Foot Slope, MS-Mid slope, TS-Toe Slope, BR-bare, GR-grass, TR-tree

Means followed by the same superscript letter (within a column for each season separately) are not significantly different ($p \le 0.05$) by Bonferroni LSD test.

The lower values of soil BD under grass cover were due enhanced micro porosity of the soil, soil aggregate and higher SOC concentration input, microclimate and soil structure improved comparative to bare land and tree cover. The same observations were made in Kenya by (Muya et al 2011) who reported lower bulk density in soils with a ground cover. The higher soil BD density under bare cover is accredited to low assimilation of OM in the soil, loss of vegetative and litter cover permitting rain drops impacts directly on bare soils resulting to greater splash impacts, hard layer formation, superficial seal that moderate soil water infiltration. Absence of plant growth on the bare ground resulted to reduced bulk density due to a decrease in root density whereas build-up of unconsolidated organic material on the soil surface from the presence of vegetation cover which led to increased root channels, thus lowering bulk density values at the surface, as was noted in the vegetated cover with grass and tree cover. The improved soil aggregation resulted from the input of OM from vegetation and hence improved soil structure and, and reduced bulk density (Muya et al 2011).

The differences in bulk density across the seasons can be attributed to low vegetation cover during the SRS as compared LRS this results into moderate water infiltration this thus indicates higher root biomass which in turn makes the soil porous thus reducing compaction by raindrops during the long rain season hence reduced bulk density as compared to short rain season. Gedir et al. (2002) also found bulk density was lowest in the long rain season. Several researchers have also found that the amount of compaction is reliant on soil water content at the time of contact (Gedir et al. 2002), with more compaction occurring under less wetter conditions. Soil bulk density changes demonstrate that bulk density can't be considered as a static soil property. It can likewise be seen that there is an expansion of it mean a reason during the low precipitation period as an outcome of contracting soil changes as contradicted in high precipitation period. The soil presents swelling and contracting developments amid the wetting and drying cycles along the diverse rainy and dry periods of the year. As stated by Timm *et al.*, 2006 that the presence of soil cracks because of wetting and drying cycles, causing a soil mass contracting and increasing bulk density of the soil between cracks.

The increases bulk density with soil depth was because subsurface layers have less organic matter and more condensed, reduced aggregation, and reduced root penetration in comparison to surface layers, there is more root growth at the top layer (0-10 cm) and improved total root length concentrated as observed by Trükmann et al. 2008. Increased bulk density down the soil profile at 50 cm can be attributed is as a result

of soil compaction due to absence of roots. At depth 20-30 cm, however, there is a soil structure improvement and few roots, in. This is noted in the bulk density which increases with increasing soil depth. As noted by Eric et al. (2015), that this reflects the degree of soil compaction due to relatively homogenous soil physical conditions The same was also reported by Pande and Yamamoto 2006 who showed that loss of top soil through erosion escalates soil compaction and potentially increases the for severe run-off and erosion during rainy events.

The bulk density was significantly lower in the toe slope than other slopes. The toe slope areas, have a better soil water content, be richer in clay and organic matter, and successively have a better water holding capability than the upslope regions. The bulk density of the toe slope is decreases probably due to a rise in clay deposition and organic matter and therefore the ensuing increase in pore area. Stavi et al., 2008 argued that decreased bulk density in toe slope is attributed to increased clay content and because of the downward movement of water and organic matter from the higher zones.

3.4.2 Soil organic carbon stocks as influenced by topographical zone and vegetation cover types down the soil profile

Topographical zones, vegetation cover types and depth significantly affected (p < 0.05) the SOC stocks. Across all TZ, VC and Depth season significantly affected SOCs with highest value recorded during the LRS as compared to SRS. Highest soil organic carbon stocks were recorded at the TS (6.40 and 6.51) as compared to other zones though not significantly different from MS (6.16 and 6.46 MgHa⁻¹) but significantly different from FS (5.29 and 5.93 MgHa⁻¹). SOCs decreased across vegetation types (VC) in the order (grass>tree>bare) but they were not significantly different. SOC stocks under GR (6.31 MgHa⁻¹ and 6.53 MgHa⁻¹) were slightly higher than other vegetation cover, the lowest was recorded under BR (5.76 MgHa⁻¹ and 6.02 MgHa⁻¹). With regards to soil depth, the total soil organic carbon stock content varied considerably. SOC stocks significantly decreased with depth. The upper soil depth (0-10) had (8.70 MgHa⁻¹ and 8.74 MgHa⁻¹) compared to the lower depth (40-50) with (3.52 MgHa⁻¹ and 4.07 MgHa⁻¹) (Table 3.4).

		Short Rain Season			Long Rain Season		
	FS		5.29 ^a			5.93 ^a	
T ZONE	MS		6.16 ^b			6.46 ^a	
I_ZONE	TS		6.40 ^b			6.51 ^a	
	BR		5.759 ^a			6.02 ^a	
V_COVER	GR	6.313 ^a				6.53 ^a	
	TR	5.770 ^a			6.35 ^a		
	0-10		8.70 ^d			8.74 ^c	
	10-20		6.90 ^c			7.22 ^b	
20-3		5.94°				6.35 ^b	
DEPTH	30-40	4.67 ^b			5.10 ^a		
	40-50		3.52 ^a			4.07 ^a	
		BR	GR	TR	BR	GR	TR
	FS	5.32 ^a	5.63 ^{ab}	4.90^{a}	5.39 ^a	6.05 ^{ab}	6.33 ^{ab}
TZ*VC	MS	6.14 ^{ab}	6.22 ^{ab}	6.10 ^{ab}	6.50 ^{ab}	6.44 ^{ab}	6.44 ^{ab}
	TS	5.85 ^{ab}	7.08 ^b	6.28 ^{ab}	6.16 ^{ab}	7.09 ^b	6.27 ^{ab}

Table 3. 4: Soil organic carbon stocks (Mg/ha) as influenced by vegetation cover types (VC) and topographical zone (TZ) down the soil profile

T.Z –Topography zone, V.C –Vegetation Cover, FS-Foot Slope, MS-Mid slope, TS-Toe Slope, BR-bare, GR-grass, TR-tree Means followed by the same superscript letter (within a column for each season separately) are not significantly different ($p \le 0.05$) by Bonferroni LSD test. Higher soil organic carbon recorded within the toe slope zone was due to increased production of litter that is assimilating into the soil resulting to greatest vegetation growth at the toe slope because of longer periods of saturation giving rise to high concentrations of organic matter. Zhang et al. (2015) reported that vegetation cover changes influence SOC sequestration. The upper soil organic carbon concentrations are owed to the improved vegetation production, litter quality and nutrient sport as indicated by Zhang et al. (2015). Topography levels, defines the microclimate and therefore great determinant of vegetation distribution and therefore soil organic carbon concentration. Paul et al. (2016) conjointly linked difference in SOC concentration at totally different topography zones to the heterogeneous nature of vegetation and microclimate at different topographical zones. Various vegetation on changeable topography zones even has distinct soil surface coverage that deeply impacts SOC input, hydrological processes and thus the effect on SOC distribution (Seibert et al., 2007).

The variation SOC concentration across the seasons is owed to changes in plant biomass throughout the two-rain season (SRS and LRS. With increased biomass production throughout the LRS this translates to increased organic matter reservoir that holds the nutrients which can be decomposed by soil microorganisms therefore translating higher organic carbon content in the soil. Reeder *et al.*, *2004* reported that plant root residues supply soil organic matter and thus increase of below ground biomass that enhance soil organic carbon within the soil.

Higher SOC stocks were ascertained at the toe slope than different topographic zones. This might result the deposition of eroded organic carbon from the mid slope and foot slope. Toe slope are water accumulating zone thus has deeper and porous soils that encourage faster vegetation growth and thus increased biomass production thus leading to increased SOC. Schwanghart and Jarmer (2011) showed that prime SOC stocks in toe slope is attributed to enlarged status and as a result of the downward movement of water from the higher zones. Fernández-Romero et al., 2014 also reported that variation in topography means that totally different climate conditions, that hamper the vegetation cowl varieties, poignant productivity of vegetation, and more influence the organic carbon input quantity into the soil. On the one hand, it should result from SOC distribution because of the processes of deposition and s erosion, SOC depletion from wearing sites on the topography, and depositing them at the toe slope zone (Seibert et al., 2007). On the contrary, SOC enrichment at the toe slope promoted vegetation growth, increased residues and growth of the roots, hence

SOC accumulation at the toe slope (Zhu et al., 2014).

The low mean values of SOC ascertained for bare may be due to; vegetation loss ensuing to low carbon inputs from plant litter and roots, microorganism activity enlarged because of favorable soil temperature relative to tree and grass cover. Higher SOCS recorded below grass cover may also be due to increased production of litter incorporated in the soil compared to bare ground. Wang et al 2018 reported that accumulative root biomass not simply will increase soil C and N inputs retention inside the soil as a result of each organic N and C dynamics.

Higher soil organic carbon stock within the higher (0-10 cm) is as a results of leaf litter decomposition. Moreover, as a result of most organic residues area unit incorporated in, or deposited on the surface, organic matter tends to accumulate within the higher layers. This study results conforms to the research by Yimer et al. (2006), who recorded a decrease in SOC stock with increasing of soil depth implying that a lot of carbon is sequestered within the prime 25 cm with a modification in vegetation varieties.

3.5 Conclusions

Topography, vegetation cover and depth had a great effect on soil bulk density. SOC stocks decreased with increasing depth in all topographical zones and vegetation cover type. The upper soil depth (0-10) had the highest soil organic carbon stock compared to the lower depth (40-50) in all topographical zones and vegetation cover types. Interaction of grass and topography increased SOCs for instance SOCs increased within the toe slope with grass vegetation as opposed to other interactions. Wooded grassland therefore can be revegetated with grass to increase SOCs for improved carbon sequestration especially in the bare ground which recorded the lowest SOCs.

CHAPTER FOUR

4.0 TOPOGRAPHY AND VEGETATION COVER INFLUENCES SOIL LOSS AND WATER BALANCE IN A WOODED GRASSLAND OF ARID AND SEMI ARID LANDS Abstract

To promote appropriate soil and water conservation techniques for adoption in semi-arid lands, requires in depth understanding of the influence and role of topography and vegetation cover on soil loss [SL] and water balance [SWB]. In this study we investigated the influence of topography and vegetation type on SL and SWB in a wooded grassland of Laikipia County, Kenya. An in-situ experiment was conducted in 2016 during the) short rainy season (SRS) and long rainy season (LRS). A RCBD [RCBD] with split plot layout was USED where; Topographical Zones [mid slope [MS], foot slope [FS] and toe slope [TS] were the main plots. The sub plots were vegetation cover types; tree [TR], grass [GR] and bare [BR]. Runoff plots measuring were installed to monitor runoff [RO] and soil loss [SL]. There were significant [P<.001] differences in evapotranspiration, runoff and soil loss across the three topographical zones and vegetation cover types. The run off was significantly higher in mid slope*bare [175.90 and 168.75 mm] and mid slope *grass [172.00 and 164.85mm] compared to toe slope *bare [169.79 and 162.64 mm] and Toe Slope* Grass [165.89 and 158.74 mm] during the LRS and SRS. Whereas Soil water balance was highest at the toe slope*grass [279.46 and 119.49 mm] than Foot slope*Grass [273.51 and 113.54 mm] and Mid Slope*Grass [267.23 and 104.76 mm] during the LRS and SRS respectively. The Run off Coefficient was significantly lower in the Toe slope*Grass [0.30 and 0.45] than Foot slope*Grass [0.31 and 0.46] for LRS and SRS. Toe slope with grass significantly reduced both RO and SL thus increased SWB and improved runoff coefficient. Therefore, protection of slopes from raindrops can effectively reduce soil loss and runoff and enhance deposition in the mid slope and toe slope. Keywords: Runoff coefficient, Soil loss, Soil water balance

4.1 Introduction

Soil degradation through soil erosion impacts approximately one-sixth of the world's land surface area, with water erosion contributing to about 55.6 percent of the affected land area (Hurni and Portner 2008). The ASALs are the most vulnerable to soil degradation (Bobadoye et al. 2016). Climatically, wooded grasslands in these ASALS are characterized by extreme temperature conditions (Lalampa et al. 2016) that aggravate the agents of soil erosion. Several researches in arid and semi-arid environments have shown that vegetation is one of the most efficient techniques for reducing soil erosion threats (Veron et al 2010). By modifying heat and moisture transmission from the soil surface to the air, vegetation cover has an impact on soil erosion and the soil water balance (Acharya et al 2016). Runoff and soil loss are influenced by vegetation in a variety of ways; through vegetation structures, levels of plant diversity, and distribution patterns . Structures of vegetation, such as plant roots, litter layers, and vegetation canopies, , alter hydrological processes, patterns of rainfall redistribution, and characteristics of the soil, which affect runoff production and soil loss and water balance directly or indirectly (Li et al., 2014).

Soil water balance plays a significant role in the wooded grasslands and usually has very changeable patterns that are impacted by rainfall, vegetation cover and topography all at the same time (Vereecken et al. 2007). Vegetation and topography have been shown to have a major impact on the temporal and geographical changes in soil water balance (Lv et al 2011) with the shape and function of vegetation having an impact on RO and SL (Zhu et al., 2015). Aghabeigi Amin *et al.*, (2014) showed that topography significantly affect runoff and sediment yield. Slope period and steepness and rainfall depth, are reported to be crucial factors influencing runoff and soil loss (Bautista et al., 2007; Aghabeigi Amin *et al.*, 2014). Therefore, knowledge on the effects of Topography and vegetation cover types on soil loss and water balance is pivotal in designing sustainable management of the ASALs

Most of the earlier research focused on the role of vegetation in relation to a specific feature, failing to clearly describe how vegetation and topography interact to affect runoff, soil erosion and soil water balance (Aghabeigi Amin *et al.*, 2014). Assessing soil water balance is critical for effective water resource management in dry and semi-arid zones (Aijuan et al. 2016). This study was done to determine the effects of topography and vegetation cover on soil loss, runoff, and soil water balance in a wooded grasslands for informed management of degraded the ASALs.

4.2 Materials and methods

4.2.1 Study Site

Refer to section 3.2.1

4.2.2 Research design

The study employed a RCBD with a split plot layout. The primary plots were variations in topographical levels; mid slope [MS], foot slope [FS], and toe slope [TS], and the subplots were vegetation cover types; Tree [T], Grass [G], and Bare [B] as the control. As duplicates, three 150-meter-long transect lines were created for each topographical zone.

4.2.3 Vegetation cover types delimitation

Vegetation cover types (Tree. Grass and Bare) were determined as the percentage of the selected area through visual estimate based on the [20x20 m] subplot area.

4.2.4 Topography [% slope and elevation]

Percentage slope (Table 4.1) was estimated using a clinometer and dynamic telescopic measuring rod, while elevation was measured using GPS receiver.

Topographic	Slope	Soil texture	Vegetation cover	Surface characteristics
Zones	[%]			
Mid slope [MS]	>10	Sandy-silt, loams,	High coverage of bare	Gravel and stones,
		gravel and stones	grounds	erosion features,
				removal of top soil
Foot slope [FS]	5-10	Sandy clay soils	High grass vegetation cover	Medium bare ground
			and medium tree/woody	areas
			vegetation cover	
Toe slope [TS]	<2	Sandy clay,	High coverage by	Deposited soil
		Wet soils,	tree/woody vegetation, high	materials from
			canopy shade cover	upstream

4.2.5 Experimental plot, Runoff and soil loss measurements

Twenty-seven test runoff plots measuring [4m by 8m] were set up in three topographical zones on different vegetation cover types replicated three times. A concrete stone build barrier was put in place to ensure that only the soil loss and runoff from the plot were collected [Figure 4.1]. At the base of the plot, a canal, intended to slant towards one end, was introduced to gather and pass on spillover into a 200-liter tank for overflow and soil loss capture via drainpipe. Two tanks were put in place in the event of heavy rainfall, the second tank served as an overflow basin, collecting the runoff overflowing from the first tank via a slot division. To assess soil loss, one-liter discharge from each erosive rainfall event was taken and converted to Kgha⁻¹. The runoff sample was then filtered using WhatmanTM paper, dried for 24 hours in an oven- at 105°C, and weighing balance was used to determine the weight. The laboratory analysis was carried out at the University of Nairobi's Kabete soil chemistry and physics laboratory. Total seasonal RO [in liters] was calculated from each runoff plot by weighing total runoff collected from each erosion event from the runoff plot's base .



Figure 4. 1 Runoff plots a] runoff plot b] drainpipe c] construction of the runoff plots d] water tank

4.2.6 Evaporation/Evapotranspiration determination

Seasonal evaporation was measured in mm using a Standard Evaporation Pan [Pan A] having a protective wire mesh. A pan was placed under each vegetation cover including the bare ground. The data consisted of seasonal total evaporation estimates and the total rainfall recorded.

It was then calculated as difference in water level in the pan using equation 4.1:

$$E = P \pm \Delta d$$
 Equation 4.1

where P is precipitation during the period, and Δd is water added [+] to or removed [-] from the pan.

4.2.7 Soil water balance determination

Soil water balance was calculated for each vegetation cover type under different topographical zones by subtracting the total seasonal runoff and evaporation from the total seasonal rainfall using the formula given by equation 4.2

Where;

SWB-soil water balance, P-precipitation/rainfall, SROFF –Soil runoff, E -evapotranspiration.

4.2.8 Runoff coefficient calculation [Rc]

The ratio of runoff to rainfall, tabulated from dividing total seasonal RO by total seasonal rainfall, is known as the runoff coefficient. The proportion of rainfall that produces runoff, as well as the infiltration and retention capacity of transpiration and evaporation, is known as the runoff coefficient. Equation 4.3 is used to express it as a percentage.

$$Runoff Coefficient [Rc] = \frac{Total Runoff [mm]}{Total Rainfall [mm]} x100$$
[Equation 4.3]

4.2.9 Statistical analysis

Using GenStat 14th version, the effects of topography and vegetation cover on RO SL, SWB, and runoff coefficient were investigated using two-way ANOVA. The significance of differences in runoff, soil loss, soil water balance, and runoff coefficient and soil water balance between treatments was tested using Fisher's LSD test.

4.3 Results

4.3.1 Evapotranspiration, Runoff, soil loss and water balance

There were significant [P<.05] difference in evapotranspiration, runoff [RO] and soil loss [SL] across topographical zones and vegetation cover types (Table 4.1).

Evapotranspiration: evapotranspiration was significantly higher in (interactions between) foot slope*tree and for Mid slope*tree compared to toe slope*tree and other interactions during both long rain season and short rain season [Table 4.1].

Runoff: The run off was significantly higher in (interactions between) mid slope*Bare and for Mid slope*Grass compared to Toe slope*Bare and Toe slope* Grass in both long rain season and short rain season [Table 4.1].

Soil loss: Soil loss was significantly higher at foot slope*bare as compared to other interactions (Table 4.1)

Soil water Balance: Whereas SWB was highest in the TS*G than FS*G and MS*G than the interaction of TZ with T and B during the LRS and SRS respectively [Table 4.1].

Topography	Vegetation	Evapotranspiration (mm)		Run off (m	m)	Soil water balance (mm)		Soil loss (Kg/m ²)	
zone	cover								
		LRS	SRS	LRS	SRS	LRS	SRS	LRS	SRS
MS	В	116.23	73.85	174.78*	168.75	271.01	111.04	0.062*	0.053*
	G	117.63	75.25	172.00	164.85	273.51	113.54	0.036	0.026*
	Т	118.53	76.15	175.90*	167.63	269.83	109.86	0.038	0.028*
FS	В	121.67*	76.99	172.76	165.61	263.55*	104.76*	0.094*	0.085*
	G	120.77*	78.39*	168.86	161.71*	267.23	107.26	0.041	0.032
	Т	119.37	79.29*	171.64	164.49	264.73*	103.58*	0.056*	0.046*
TS	В	113.26*	70.88*	169.79	162.64*	276.96	116.99*	0.040	0.031
	G	114.66*	72.28*	165.89	158.74*	279.46*	119.49*	0.028*	0.018*
	Т	115.56	73.18	168.66	161.51*	275.78	115.81	0.033	0.024*

Table 4.2: Runoff, soil loss and soil water balance as influenced by topography and vegetation cover across the rainy seasons

Means with * are significantly different (p <.05) by Bonferroni LSD test

B-Bare, G-Grass, T-Trees, MS-Mid Slope, FS-Foot Slope, TS-Toe Slope, LRS-Long Rain Season, SRS-Short Rain Season

4.3.2 Runoff coefficient during the long and short rainy seasons

Runoff coefficients were highly variable during the two study seasons, with values ranging from 0.30 to 0.31 and 0.45 to 0.48 during the LRS and SRS respectively but not significantly different. In all the topographical zones, runoff coefficient was highest in FS compared to MS and TS in both seasons (Fig.6). RC was significantly lower at the TS*G (0.30 and 0.45) than FS*G (0.31 and 0.46) and MS *G (0.31 and 0.48) for LRS and SRS respectively.



Figure 4. 2 Runoff coefficient as influenced by topographical zones and vegetation cover across the LRS and SRS

FS-Foot slope, LRS-Long Rain Season, MS-Mid slope, TS-Toe slope, TZ-topographical zone, SRS-Short Rain Season.

4.3.3 Correlations

There was a linear correlation +(R=0.46) between soil loss and runoff (Fig.4.3) and a -ve correlation (R=-0.93) for evapotranspiration and soil water balance (Fig.4.4). There was also a +ve correlation (R=0.27) for run off and rainfall (Fig.4.5).



Figure 4. 3: soil loss vs runoff

Figure 4. 4: soil water balance vs evapotranspiration



Figure 4. 5: Rainfall Vs Run off

Table 4. 3: Correlations

	Evapotranspiratio	Run off	Soil water	Soil loss
	n	(mm)	balance (mm)	(Kg/m2)
	(mm)			
Evapotranspiration (mm)	1	0.787709715	0.982615398	0.294292251
Run off (mm)	0.787709715	1	0.744130658	0.484922671
Soil water balance (mm)	0.982615398	0.744130658	1	0.19081323
Soil loss (Kg/m ²)	0.294292251	0.484922671	0.19081323	1

4.4 Discussions

4.4.1 Evapotranspiration, Runoff, soil loss and water balance

Evapotranspiration: Tree cover had greater evapotranspiration in both seasons, trees have the ability to use more water than most other types of vegetation due to high consumption and thus highest soil temperatures, corresponding to greater moisture losses. This agreed to the study by Cao et al. [2009] who established that woody species take up more water by evapotranspiration than other vegetation types. Furthermore, Dai et al. [2006] found that the most important factor affecting evapotranspiration was vegetation cover was. Grass and bare ground showed lesser evapotranspiration than trees.

Run off and soil loss: The quantity of RO and SL from bare ground was significantly higher than that from tree and grass cover. The effects of vegetation on runoff and soil loss is determined by structure and function of vegetation. Vegetation on the soil surface enhances the roughness of the soil surface and operates as a series of barriers that obstruct surface runoff and lengthen infiltration time. Thus, land cover minimizes soil loss by intercepting rainwater runoff, increasing soil surface roughness, and boosting rainfall infiltration.

Runoff, soil water balance and soil loss were significantly influenced by rainfall season. When compared to the SRS, the LRS had the most runoff, soil loss, and soil water balance because

rainfall was both the cause and the source of RO. Runoff and SL are primarily dependent on rainfall when the intensity and other factors are fixed. The interception effect is diminished when rainfall intensity is high, and the presence of a biological crust on the soil has an impact on runoff generation. The link between runoff, sediment, and rainfall intensity was also discovered to be a power function in Wang et al. 2016 investigation. According to Farhan and Nawaiseh [2015], the higher the rainfall intensity, the wider the center diameter of raindrops, which favors runoff formation and soil loss. Run off and soil was higher under the bare ground this since there is no vegetation cover to intercept the rain drops making their soils more sensitive to RO and SL. Because of the vegetation's interception effect, a raindrop cannot directly contact the ground surface when the plant covering on the land surface is quite high. This supports the findings of Méndez et al. [2010], who found that, compared to bare ground, more ground cover reduces runoff and soil loss. This concurs with the findings of Collins et al., [2015], who discovered that vegetation cover had a direct impact on RO and SL. Vannoppen et al. [2015] similarly documented a reduction in soil loss as a result of the combined effects of t roots and vegetation cover in their study. Toe slope vegetation worked as a deposit trap by trapping soil particles in its roots, slowing surface runoff and maintaining better pore space, resulting in increased soil water balance and hence reduced runoff. According to Voepel et al. [2011], the building effect of runoff causes soil water content to progressively increase from the mid slope to the toe slope. Additionally, Dosskey et al., 2010 reported that toe slope plants have been found to be responsible for higher amount of the organic matter.

Soil water balance: The values of the SWB beneath tree and grass were much greater than those on barren land. In comparison to bare land, trees influence soil parameters through soil-vegetation interaction, resulting in higher infiltration rate and soil water retention capacity. Zhang et al. [2012] discovered that vegetated land has a greater capacity for soil water retention than non-vegetated ground. Soil organic matter distribution varies depending on the vegetation cover, which is a crucial factor determining soil bulk density, soil water content, and water retention. Wang et al. [2018] observed similar results, claiming that the upper soil layer under high vegetation cover had pronounced litter cover, which boosted water infiltration and water retention capacity. Keim et al., 2006 study showed that vegetation alters the soil water balance through transpiration and interception.

There was a slight difference in soil water balance through the topographic points, toe slope positions had higher soil water balance than foot slope and mid slopes, demonstrating the significance of texture and rooting depth on determining soil water balance.

4.4.2 Runoff coefficient during the long and short rainy seasons

The highest runoff coefficient occurs in the bare this indicates that increased vegetation cover decreases the runoff coefficient. This is as a result of decreased rain drop and run off due to interception of rain drop by vegetation cover. This concur with the study by Zhang et al., 2010 who found out that the major factor affecting the runoff coefficient is vegetation cover. When rainfall intensity exceeds the soil's infiltration capacity, runoff increases, resulting to an increase runoff coefficient during the LRS than SRS. According to Rebeca et al. [2010], the amount of rain has a direct comparable effect on the runoff coefficient. The results indicates that there is a difference in runoff coefficient at different topographical zone with higher run off coefficient for mid slope than foot slope and toe slope in both seasons this indicates that run off coefficient decreased down the slope. This is because run off is at the peak at the mid slope due to gained momentum as compared to foot slope and toe slope. In their study, Haggard et al. [2005] discovered that the association amid slope and runoff coefficient suggested that superficial runoff output will continue to increase at mid-slope slopes.

4.4.3 Correlations

From the correlation analysis it is evident that soil loss increased as runoff. increases This is because with increased runoff more soils are detached from the surface and carried away. This is the same with the studies done previously by (Gholami et al., 2013) who found with a larger amount of energy there is greater runoff, with detachment soil aggregation and movement the soil particles. The results are also agreeing with the findings of Adimassu et al. (2014) and Adimassu and Haile (2011), who found out that there is a good relationship between RO and SL. Rainfall and runoff also had a significant correlation. Previous studies suggested that runoff generation rate increased as rainfall increases. It has been found that the relationship of runoff and rainfall is always positive by (Cerdà et al., 2017).

4.5 Conclusions

It is evident from the study that vegetation and topography influence runoff, soil loss, soil water balance and runoff coefficient. The results from this study shows that run off *and soil loss was significantly higher in MS*B and MS*G as compared to TS*B and TS* G. grass* vegetation-reduced the soil loss and runoff control. Soil water balance increased at the toe slope with grass vegetation. Therefore, from this study proper protection of slopes from surface disturbances from raindrops can effectively reduce soil loss and runoff by using grass and tree covers to enhance deposition in the mid slopes. However, the study suggests that more research be done on the dynamics of soil water balance in bare soils in forested grasslands to better understand the soil water needs of these places. Wooded Grassland soils have the potential to increase soil water balance and reduces soil loss and runoff that promoted rejuvenation of grass vegetation for soil water conservation and improvement of livelihoods

CHAPTER FIVE

5.0 GREENHOUSE GAS FLUXES AS INFLUENCED BY TOPOGRAPHY AND VEGETATION COVER IN WOODED GRASSLANDS OF LAIKIPIA COUNTY, KENYA

Abstract

Wooded grasslands are a little-studied ecosystem that contributes an unknown amount of GHGs to global warming. The study was to see how topography and vegetation cover influenced CO₂, CH₄ (CH₄), and N₂O (nitrous oxide) flux. The research was carried out in Laikipia County's Ilmotiok community ranch 2016. Randomized complete block design (RCBD) with main plots topographical zones (mid-slope (MS), foot slope (FS), and toe slope (TS)) and subplots vegetation cover (VC) (tree (T), grass (G) and bare (B)). Static chamber frames were installed for the three VC (B, G, and T) in three TZ (MS, FS, and TS). GHGs were measured every 7-10 days between 0800hrs and 1200hr. Sampling was done after fitting the lid at time (T0), 10 min. (T1), 20 min (T2) and 30 min (T3). During the wet months, CH₄, N₂O and CO₂ emission were significantly higher than the dry season. Methane fluxes ranged from -0.32 mg.m-2.h-1 to 0.24 mg.m-2.h-1 with the lowest (-0.32 mg.m⁻².h⁻¹) recorded under TS*T whereas CO₂ was highest under TS*G (47 mg.m⁻².h⁻¹) as compared to MS*G (19 mg.m⁻².h⁻¹). TZ*VC significantly influence N₂O with MS*B recording the lowest (0.008) as compared to TS*B (2.228 mg.m⁻².h⁻¹). CO₂, N₂O and CH₄ emissions were low in January and February and it increased in March and April in all the TZ*VC. Soil CO₂, N₂O, and CH₄ fluxes patterns of are principally controlled by topography and plant cover, with larger emissions of soil CO₂ and uptakes of CH₄ on the toe slopes and foot slopes than in MS.

Keywords: climate change; greenhouse gases; topography; vegetation cover

5.1 Introduction

Global warming is caused by increased GHG gases concentrations such as methane (CH₄), nitrous oxide (NO₂) and carbon dioxide (CO₂). These GHGs are all created and consumed by biological processes such as photosynthesis, decomposition, nitrification, denitrification, methanogenesis, and CH4 oxidation, and terrestrial ecosystems are key sources and sinks for them (IPCC, 2013). Soils are the primary source of CO2 and N2O in the atmosphere (Butterbach-Bahl et al., 2013).

Total yearly soil emissions are predicted to contribute 35 percent to CO2, 53 percent to N2O, and 21% to CH4 in their respective atmospheric budgets (IPCC, 2007). However, livestock part contributes about 15 % of worldwide greenhouse gas emissions (Gerber et al., 2013), and consequently escalate land degradation, environmental pollution, and decline in biodiversity (Bellarby et al., 2013). The semi-arid wooded grasslands of Laikipia County are friable to climate change due to encroachment of the rangelands due to unsustainable land uses resulting from increased human population (Georgiadis et al. 2007). Climate change will affect livestock production due to competition for ecosystem resources as animal products demand is predicted to rise by 10 percent by the twenty-first century (Garnett, 2009). Therefore, it is difficult to strike a balance between household food security, productivity, and protection of environmental (Wright et al., 2012). The magnitude of soil N₂O and CO₂ emissions in these semi-arid rangelands vary considerably across spatial and temporal scales (Butterbach-Bahl et al., 2013). Soil CO₂, CH₄ and N₂O fluxes differ considerably as it is driven by biological processes, ecological conditions, nonuniformity of soil properties (Butterbach-Bahl et al., 2013). Root respiration and microbial decomposition of soil organic matter produce CO2, some of which is released into the atmosphere and part of which is fixed during photosynthesis (Paterson et al., 2009).

Although various studies have examined the variability of CH4 fluxes, most of them have covered large regional scales, capturing crucial environmental factors at such scales, but sample locations have been scarce (Teh et al., 2014). The smaller-scale outlines of Methane fluxes within these ecosystems have not been adequately examined at ecosystem size gradients, due to its problematic nature of such patterns but important for projecting GHG fluxes (Nicolini et al., 2013). Similarly, a lot of effort has gone into analyzing carbon dioxide fluxes in a range of biomes using eddy covariance and chamber measurements approaches (Allaire et al., 2012), although estimates of

GHG emissions from soils include a lot of uncertainty. Practical approaches to measure soil GHG fluxes are necessary for better understanding of the magnitudes, spatial and temporal variations of soil-atmospheric trace-gas emissions (Allaire et al., 2012). Due to the importance of terrestrial ecosystems as GHG producers and sinks (IPCC, 2007) and the need to counteract climate change, new management techniques aimed at lowering soil GHG emissions are urgently needed. There are few studies that incorporate topographic irregularity into ecological scale forecasts of in situ chamber flux measurements of a variety of GHGs (Merbold and Wohlfahrt 2012). Owing to the substantial spatial-temporal variability of fluxes in forested grasslands, understanding topography and vegetation cover effects on soil GHG fluxes remains difficult. As a result, research was conducted in the forested grasslands of Laikipia County, Kenya, to assess GHG gas CO_2 , CH_4 and N_2O fluxes as impacted by topography and vegetation cover types.

5.2 Materials and methods

5.2.1 Study Site

Refer to section 3.2.1

5.2.2 Research design

The main plot was variation in topographical zones; mid slope (MS), foot slope (FS), and toe slope (TS), and the subplots were vegetation cover Tree (T), Grass (G), and Bare (B) as the control. A total three transect line measuring 150m long were drawn for each topographical zone as replicates (Table 5.1). Blocking was done along the transect line after every 50m. Measurements of GHGs was done from January to April 2017.

Table 4. 4: Research design

Zone	Rep	Block 1	Block 2	Block 3
		50m	50m	50m
Mid slope	Rep 1	GTGGTG BGTTG	TGBTTGTGTGBB	GTGGTG BGTTG
	Rep 2	GTGBBGTGTGB	TTGTGTGBBBG	TGBTTGTGTGBB
	Rep 3	GTGGTG BGTTG	GTGBBGTGTGB	TGBTTGTGTGBB

Foot slope	Rep 1	GTGGTG BGTTG	TGBTTGTGTGBB	GTGGTG BGTTG
	Rep 2	GTGBBGTGTGB	TTGTGTGBBBG	TGBTTGTGTGBB
	Rep 3	GTGGTG BGTTG	GTGBBGTGTGB	TGBTTGTGTGBB

Toe slope	Rep 1	GTGGTG BGTTG	TGBTTGTGTGBB	GTGGTG BGTTG
	Rep 2	GTGBBGTGTGB	TTGTGTGBBBG	TGBTTGTGTGBB
	Rep 3	GTGGTG BGTTG	GTGBBGTGTGB	TGBTTGTGTGBB

B-Bare G-Grass, T-Tree,

5.2.3 Land cover determination

Vegetation cover types was determined as the percentage of the selected area through visual estimation.

Table 4. 5: Land cover determination

Land cover type	Abbrev.	Units	How and tools used
Tree	Т	% Area	Visual estimate based on the (20x20 m) subplot area
Grass	G	% Area	Visual estimate based on the (20x20 m) subplot area

5.2.4 Static chamber installation

For the three-vegetation cover in each of the three topographical zones, static chamber frames were placed (two weeks prior to the first sample date to avoid soil damage that could affect greenhouse gas emissions). The chamber anchor was buried 10 cm into the soil, leaving 15 cm of chamber space above the surface. (Fig.4.6).



Figure 4. 6: Static GHG chamber

5.2.5 Flux measurements

To capture the observed time-based variability of GHG gas emissions, sampling was done across the four months (January to April) to catch the dry (January), intermediate (February and March), and wet (March/April) seasons. Gas samples were collected between 0800hrs and 1200hr local

time. Gas sampling was done immediately after fitting the lid at time zero (T0), after 10 min (T1), 20 min (T2) and lastly after 30 min (T3). Other measurements taken included soil moisture, soil temperature, air temperature and chamber temperature, air pressure and chamber height from soil surface. Above ground at 1.5 m air temperatures and inside the base chamber were taken concurrently in each sampling event using an Ein stich—TFA digital probe thermometer. soil moisture content (SM, % v/v) and soil temperature (°C) were taken at 5 cm surface soil depth using a probe sensor model 5MT, Decagon Devices Inc. which measured both soil moisture and temperature. Once the systems were operational and set i.e., thermometers and chamber lids, gases were collected using Luer-Lok syringe and stored in 20ml evacuated vials which were later transported to mazingira Laboratory, International livestock research institute LRI, Kenya for CO₂, N₂O, and CH₄ analysis using an Agilent 6890 Gas chromatograph (Lutes *et* al., 2016).

The CH4, CO2, and N2O fluxes vs chamber closure duration was calculated using linear regression of standard concentrations as described by Lutes et al., (2016), and corrected for soil moisture and temperature using equation 5.1 below (computerized).

$$F = (P/Po) x (M/Vo) x (dc/dt) x (To/T) x H$$
 (Equation 5.1)

Whereby: F= (for) CO₂ - C Linear flux (mg.m⁻².h⁻¹), CH₄-C Linear flux (mg.m⁻².h⁻¹) and N₂O- N Linear flux (ug.m⁻².h⁻¹), P= atmospheric pressure of study site (Pa), P₀= atmospheric pressure (Pa), M= gas mass (g/mol), V₀= molar volume (ml), dc/dt = rate of change in concentrate,

 T_o = absolute chamber temperature (°C), T= absolute chamber temperature at time of sampling (°C), H= height of static chamber at the time of sampling.

5.3 Statistical analysis

Using GenStat 14th version, the effects of topography and vegetation cover on runoff, soil loss, soil water balance, and runoff coefficient were investigated using two-way ANOVA. The significance of differences in runoff, soil loss, soil water balance, and runoff coefficient and soil water balance between treatments was tested using Fisher's LSD test.

5.4 Results and discussion

5.4.1 Rainfall and temperature data

Rainfall and air temperature over the four months study period ranged from 7 mm to 400 mm per month (Table 2), which was closely similar to the long-term average annual rainfall (560 mm) of the study site. Mean annual air temperature ranged from 19-29°C, whereas minimum and maximum ranged from (9-15°C) and 24-32 °C respectively.

		Jan	Feb	Mar	April
Rainfall (mm)		17	7	250	400
Temperatures (°C)	Min	9	10	12	15
	Mean	19	20	19	19
	Max	28	32	28	24

Table 5. 1: Rainfall, maximum, average and minimum temperature

5.4.2 CO2, CH4, and N2O flows as a influenced by soil moisture

The amount of moisture in the soil has a substantial (p0.05) impact on GHG emissions (CO2, CH4 and N2O). Wet soil had considerably higher CO2 levels (79.39 mg.m⁻².h⁻¹) than dry soil (p0.05) (12.79 mg.m⁻².h⁻¹). Wet soil has (-0.00662 mg.m⁻².h⁻¹) CH4, whereas dry soil had (-0.00662 mg.m⁻².h⁻¹) CH4 (-0.01742a mg.m⁻².h⁻¹) (Table 3).

Table 5. 2:	CO2,	CH4,	and N2O	flows as	influenced	by soil	moisture

Soil condition	$CO_2 - C (mg.m^{-2}.h^{-1})$	CH ₄ -C (mg.m ⁻² .h ⁻¹)	$N_2O-N (mg.m^{-2}.h^{-1})$
Dry	12.79 ^a	-0.01742 ^a	0.822ª
Wet	79.39 ^b	-0.00662^{a}	18.543 ^b

Fisher's LSD test finds that means with the same superscript letter (within a column) are not substantially different (p0.05).

When the soil becomes wet, CO2 fluxes increase dramatically. Because of their impacts on microbial activity and plants, soil aeration, substrate availability, and redistribution, soil temperature and moisture content have an immediate impact on CO2 production and intake. Soil moisture is important for soil CO2 fluxes; wetter soils exhaled more CO2 due to enhanced microbial respiration conditions (Zhou et al., 2013).

Dry soils have both methanogenesis and methanotrophic, which increase emissions from the soil to the environment without coming into contact with an oxidizing soil environment; nonetheless, higher methanogenesis will have a greater effect, and the net result may be an increase in CH4 emissions. These findings support previous claims by (Angel et al., 2012) that CH4 emissions are turned on and off in extremely dry soils. Because methanogenesis increases in anaerobic environments, populations of methanogenic organisms rise with increased soil moisture in previously dry soils, and methanogenesis is introduced (Le Mer and Roger, 2001). However, when soils are damp, methanogenic activity is abridged (Inubushi et al., 2003). Throughout the research period, the temporal and geographical variation of CH4 fluxes decreased depending on soil temperature and moisture variations. This is similar to the ones investigated by Zhu et al (2013).

As a result, the effects of wetness on soil nitrous oxide fluxes are due to the restrictions of O2 diffusion into the soil, which leads to an increase in soil anaerobiosis, which encourages reductive microbial strategies as well as denitrification. According to, soil water is a major using component for N2O collection (Christiansen et al., 2012). Pennock and Corre (2001) suggested that higher soil moisture content resulted in better N2O fluxes, which were linked to increased denitrifying bacteria owing to lower O2 dispersion into the soil (Yanai et al., 2007). Wet conditions encourage the growth of soil microbial populations and inorganic nitrogen, resulting in increased N2O emissions at some point during the wet season. Particularly microbial denitrification, and nitrification in, are responsible for Nitrous oxide emissions from soils, even when the soil is wet Katayanagi and Hatano (2012). Moisture and temperature are the primary regulators of nitrous oxide and methane fluxes in soils. Wu et al. (2010) discovered that seasonal changes in soil moisture and temperature closely correspond to temporal patterns in nitrous oxide and methane fluxes.

5.4.3 Effects of topographical zones and vegetation cover type on Methane (CH₄) fluxes

Topography and vegetation significantly (P<0.05) influenced CH₄ emissions. Methane fluxes ranged from -0.021 mg.m⁻².h⁻¹to 0.026 mg.m⁻².h⁻¹with the lowest (-0.021 mg.m⁻².h⁻¹) recorded under FS*B. TZ*B were all negative for all the months (January-April) with April recording more negative values but not significantly different with March values. Methane (CH₄) emissions in January and February were low and it increased in March and April in all the TZ*VC (Table 5.3). The positive values for methane were recorded under TZ*G with the highest value during the month of April under (TS*G 0.026 mg.m-2.h-1) and lowest during the month of February (FS*G 0.003 mg.m⁻².h⁻¹) in comparison to other zones.

Table 5.3	: Effects of t	opographical	zones and	vegetation	cover ty	rpe on Meth	ane (CH4)
emissions							

. ...

.

3.5 (1

.....

TZ	VC	JAN	FEB	MAR	APR
FS	BARE	-0.006 ^c	-0.020 ^b	-0.009 ^c	-0.021 ^b
	GRASS	0.003 ^e	0.007^{fg}	0.009^{fgh}	0.013 ^j
	TREE	0.003 ^e	-0.001 ^d	-0.002 ^d	-0.020 ^b
MS	BARE	-0.003 ^d	-0.010 ^c	-0.09 ^a	-0.017 ^b
	GRASS	0.005 ^f	0.011 ^{hi}	0.011 ^{hi}	0.022^{1}
	TREE	0.001 ^d	0.003 ^e	0.005^{f}	0.007^{fg}
TS	BARE	-0.001 ^d	-0.08 ^a	-0.07 ^a	-0.013 ^c
	GRASS	0.007 ^{fg}	0.014 ^j	0.016 ^k	0.026 ¹
	TREE	0.006 ^f	0.008 ^{fg}	0.009 ^{fgh}	0.011^{hi}

Fisher's LSD test shows that means preceded by a distinct superscript letter (within a column for each month separately) are substantially different (p0.05).

The reduction of vegetation covers increased CH_4 emissions Sturtevant and Oechel, 2013 suggested that Plant biomass and stem density have been extensively associated with CH4 emissions. Vieira et al. (2012) found that vegetation type had an impact on methane emissions in the aggregate. This study also found that vegetation cover, soil features, and climate change all had an impact on CH4 emissions, demonstrating that vegetation cover is an important factor in CH4 emissions.

Increased CH4 emissions have been linked to accelerated root biomass production, as well as increased breakdown of plant material due to aerobic soil conditions by (Yun et al. 2012).

The toe slope, showed increasing CH₄ fluxes than foot slope and mid-slope in all vegetation cover types. The assumption is that topography controls soil water redistribution, which affects soil aeration and thus soil microbial activities. Yvon-Durocher et al., 2014 also found out that zones containing soils that aid microbial activities and the net CH₄ flux at the soil surface. The soil in the toe slope area is saturated, and the hydrologic flow from the foot slope allows dissolved organic carbon to migrate downslope. The modest CH4 fluxes are in line with findings from other research, which show methane produced in soil is reacted before it reaches the subsoil (Vidon et al., 2015). The watershed's toe and mid slopes have slower drainage, creating a soil environment that may be more favourable to CH4 generation, or may have a better balance of methanogenic and methanotrophic techniques. Soil CH4 flow is caused by active soil methanotrophic and methanogenic bacteria that rely on the presence of oxygen (Kim, 2015).

CH4 fluxes ranged from net emission to net uptake, indicating that the soil microbial ecology contained both methanotrophs and methanogens bacteria. Due to soil microbial synthesis and consumption of CH4 occurring simultaneously, CH4 flow is highly variable both geographically and temporally.

Because of changes in gas transport and decreases in aerobic zones in the soil, CH4 absorption typically decreases as soil moisture increases. This is fueled by resumed mineralization and the easy availability of decomposable organic materials for reactivated microorganisms' metabolism (Borken and Matzner, 2009). With more frequent wet-dry cycles, the Birch effect is reduced (Borken and Matzner, 2009). Then again, the absorption of CH₄ by using soil became enhanced

by using rainfall due to CH₄ flux response to increase in soil moisture. CH₄ fluxes shifted from uptake during dryer conditions to slight emissions under wet conditions (Teh et al., 2014).

5.4.4 Effects of topographical zones and vegetation cover type on carbon dioxide (CO₂)

Topography and vegetation significantly (P <0.05) influence carbon dioxide. Toe slope had the highest soil CO₂ fluxes than the other topographical mid slope and foot slope. Average CO₂ fluxes in all topographical zones were between 2.8 to 48 mg.m⁻².h⁻¹ (Table 5.4). The highest emissions were recorded under TZ*G as compared to other interactions throughout the seasons with significantly higher emissions under MS*G month of April (48.56 mg.m⁻².h⁻¹) and the lower under MS*B month of February 2.88 mg.m⁻².h⁻¹. In January and February, carbon dioxide (CO2) emissions were modest, but climbed in March and April.

 Table 5. 4: Effects of topographical zones and vegetation cover type on carbon dioxide

 (CO2) mg.m-2.h-1

		MS			FS			TS	
Month	BARE	GRASS	TREE	BARE	GRASS	TREE	BARE	GRASS	TREE
JAN	4.41 ^a	5.77 ^a	7.73 ^{ab}	5.98 ^{ab}	12.08 ^{cde}	25.05 ^{fgh}	7.27 ^{ab}	8.78 ^{bc}	9.83 ^{bc}
FEB	4.63 ^a	11.97 ^{bcd}	13.73 ^{cde}	2.88 ^a	11.70 ^{bc}	7.64 ^{ab}	6.24 ^{ab}	7.34 ^{ab}	7.87 ^{ab}
MAR	13.79 ^{cde}	24.49 ^{efg}	11.38 ^{bc}	8.21 ^{bc}	68.56 ^m	55.64 ¹	16.50 ^{def}	31.47 ^j	23.42 ^{efg}
APR	21.89 ^{efg}	36.70 ^k	28.32 ^{ghi}	9.94 ^{bc}	69.94 ^{mn}	63.18 ^m	25.51 ^{fgh}	80.29°	24.88 ^{efg}

Means followed by the different superscript letter are significantly different (p <0.05) by Fisher's LSD test.

Topography influences soil CO_2 fluxes by way of influencing the soil moisture condition. Inclined soils are normally properly aerated and properly drained, for this reason, providing conditions favorable for aerobic heterotrophic. Previous studies have indicated that toe slopes have superior soil CO2 fluxes than foot slopes or mid-slope locations due to enhanced soil nutrient depositions and soil moisture cand (Arias-Navarro et al. 2017). Vegetation has impacts on CO_2 emissions and undoubtedly correlates with net ecosystem production. Metcalfe et al., 2007 demonstrated that decrease root density or litter content material correspond with decreased CO2 fluxes. Increased CO2 concentrations in soils can also be attributed to improved root mass as a result of higher CO2 levels in the atmosphere. Increase in ground cover also can impact C and nutrient cycling approaches and regulate the ecosystemenvironment exchange of CO_2 (Buckeridge *et al* 2010). Despite the fact that growth in leaf area with more vegetation cover increases gross ecosystem production and uptake of CO_2 (Shaver *et al* 2000).

Higher soil CO₂ concentrations were recorded in moist periods of March and April; our results correspond that excessive C0₂ emissions throughout wet durations was due to C0₂ displacement in the soil due to increased rainwater. Increase in CO₂ flux during the wet season are most probably due to an aggregate of factors occurring simultaneously – will increase in soil temperature and soil moisture that can additionally induce higher carbon (C) availability as reported by (Hubbard et al., 2006). In addition, at some point of the observation period of this study, the large quantity of litter that had gathered all through the dry period became intensively decomposed with the onset of rainfall. Soil water content also can impact rates of CO₂ by diffusing soluble C substrates in thin water as suggested by Davidson et al. 2006. Addition of water to the soils as precipitation through infiltration can elicit vast increases in total respiratory reflecting greater decomposition of the organic layer and growth in substrate availability. Increased precipitation is predicted to reduce rates of O2 penetration into the soil, lowering carbon oxidation (Liptzin et al., 2011). Precipitation variability is a well-known key driver of seasonal variations in soil CO2 flow in a various environments (Stielstra et al., 2015, Vargas et al., 2012). In rainy season respiration is likely to increase with increased vegetation covers because of the increased insulating ability of the plantstrapped snow developing warmer soil surroundings (Sturm et al 2015).

5.4.5 Effects of topographical zones and vegetation cover type on Nitrous oxide (N₂O)

The results showed that topography and vegetation had a positive influence on N_2O fluxes. The mean N_2O emission for toe slope ranged from 0.475 to 43.026 ug.m⁻².h⁻¹, these values were significantly higher than at mid slope (-2.63-15.016 ug.m⁻².h⁻¹) and foot slope (-1.311-10.759)

ug.m⁻².h⁻¹) (P < 0.05) (Table 5.5). In all topographical zones, bare soil exhibited the lowest average fluxes from all vegetation cover categories.

Nitrous oxide (N2O) emissions were higher in March compared to other months in all topographical zones and vegetation cover types.

	VC	JAN	FEB	MAR	APR	
FS	BARE	-0.578 ^b	-1.311 ^a	-0.378 ^{bc}	1.088 ^{de}	
	GRASS	1.377 ^{fg}	1.117 ^{def}	0.673 ^{de}	9.224 ^{jk}	
	TREE	0.835 ^{de}	1.305 ^{def}	0.802 ^{de}	10.759^{jk}	
MS	BARE	-1.053 ^b	-1.321ª	-2.630 ^a	-0.712 ^{de}	
	GRASS	1.311 ^{def}	1.583 ^{fg}	5.426 ^j	15.016 ¹	
	TREE	1.300 ^{def}	1.181 ^{def}	5.557 ^j	8.629 ^{jk}	
TS	BARE	0.475 ^d	1.004 ^{de}	0.489 ^d	6.946 ^j	
	GRASS	1.098 ^{de}	2.156 ^h	22.155 ^m	43.026 ⁿ	
	TREE	3.432 ^{hi}	0.032 ^d	2.596 ^h	28.477 ^m	

Table 5. 5: Effects of topographical zones and vegetation cover type on Nitrous oxide (N2O)

Means followed by the same superscript letter at different months are not significantly different (p <0.001) by Fisher's LSD

The bare soil had N_2O accumulated emissions near zero this due to reduced soil moisture content, soil temperature and soil aeration, therefore, affecting the emissions. Soil moisture will increase as a result of stomata starting as a consequence growing situations for N_2O emissions through denitrification force (Ding et al., 2003). Van der Nat and Middelburg (2000) observed that N2O emissions have been affected collectively by vegetation cover percentage. Soil N_2O emissions are increased in the toe-slope than in foot slope or mid-slope positions this is because of moisture content in the different positions along the slope commonly explaining well the located variability in N_2O fluxes. The differences in moisture content material among the different topographic positions explaining well the determined changeability in N_2O fluxes with the highest soil N2O fluxes at the toe slope intently correlated with the highest soil moisture in these positions (Negassa et al., 2015). Extensive consequences of topographic position on a couple of components of the N cycle were proven by using Weintraub et al. (2014), who indicated that there is lower N and a less open Nitrogen cycle in toe-slopes. Increased N₂O fluxes occur in the soil with a high moisture content that is because patterns of N₂O flux is controlled via soil moisture variability. Soil moisture affects earthworm casts that produce nitrous oxide. Geng et al 2017 in his study in tropical soils reported that N₂O emissions can be sporadic and brief, for example, after heavy rains and are characterized via short pulses of emissions related to better nitrogen inputs or excessive precipitation occasions. As an example, an increase in soil temperature can directly stimulate nitrifies and denitrifies that produce N₂O, however greater fast soil drying (Bijoor et al. 2008). Temperature increases could also stimulate plant boom and N uptake, thereby decreasing the effect of N being lost as N₂O. However, warming boost N₂O emissions due to increased microbial activity and N deliver via accelerated N mineralization (Dieleman et al. 2012).

5.5 Conclusion

Topography and vegetation cover primarily control the patterns of soil CH₄, CO2 and N₂O fluxes therefore, topography and vegetation structures are essential in soil carbon fluxes tpredictions of. Toe slope had the highest soil CO₂ and N₂O fluxes than the other zones mid slope and foot slope. Carbon dioxide (CO₂) and N₂O emissions increased in March and April and very in January and February.

CHAPTER SIX

6.0 GENERAL DISCUSSION, CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATIONS

6.1 General discussion

In this research, approximately 50 percent of Soil Organic Carbon were found in the upper horizon, whereas 30 percent in the mid horizon and 20 percent in the lower horizon. This might be as a result of constant addition of partially decomposed plant residue and undecomposed on top soils. Other scientists have also found that top horizon have accumulated more OM than lower horizon. SOC concentration also vary because of different vegetation types locally. Higher SOCS recorded below grass cover due to increased litter production that is added into the soil compared to tree and bare ground. Vegetation is one the many influencing factors of SOC stocks (Oueslati et al. 2015). SOC concentration were also significantly higher at toe slope and foot slopes than at the mid slope. The burial of soil in the depositional position (toe slope) may result in a relative gain in SOC, because there would be less carbon mineralization than when exposed to the higher oxygen conditions at the mid slope. This is attributable to the effects of topography on moisture content, erosion and deposition. It controls rates of redistribution of soil along the slope locations and have an effect on the amount and soil organic carbon quality (Oueslati et al. 2013). Runoff in bare ground increases, as there is no vegetation cover and if any it is more disperse and thus their soils are susceptible to run off. Topography through the redistribution of soil organic matter and soil particles controls processes of soil erosion. The slope and the ratio of runoff to rainfall relationship between suggested that surface runoff production increase at toe slopes. Vegetation cover regulates runoff and soil loss processes by responsibly intercepting rainfall and decrease the effect of raindrop while promoting rainfall penetration into the soil thus reducing surface flow velocities, thus diminishing the runoff and soil loss. There is a strong effect of vegetation on surface runoff (Chen et al., 2007).

Potential soil CO_2 mean fluxes declined along the slope with toe slope having significantly higher fluxes than the mid slope and foot slope positions. Several researchers point out that the spatial differences in soil CO2 fluxes have been associated with slope characteristic. Soil N₂O emissions are higher in toe slope than mid slope or foot-slope sites due to differences in moisture content at different positions in the slope thus explaining well the observed differences in N2O fluxes with the maximum soil N2O fluxes found in toe slope positions correlating with the highest soil moisture in such positions. Substantial effects of topographic slope and landscape position on greenhouse gases have been shown as well by Weintraub et al. (2014).

6.2 Conclusion

- Results from this study have shown that different topographical zones and vegetation cover types of wooded grassland savanna had a great influence on soil organic carbon, soil water balance and greenhouse gas fluxes. There was high variability in soil organic carbon stocks for the different vegetation cover types with high soil organic carbon stocks observed in vegetated cover than bare ground.
- The study has established that interaction of toe slope and grass cover, resulted into higher SOCs and SWB than in interaction of mid slope and bare cover. Such positive results are beneficial for GHGs emission reduction and soil water conservation, especially for water-constrained and degraded wooded grasslands of Laikipia County.
- SOC stocks decreased with increasing depth in all topographical zones and vegetation cover type. The upper soil depth had the highest soil organic carbon stock compared to the lower depth in all topographical zones and vegetation cover types.
- Toe slope-grass cover, also resulted to reduced soil loss and run off when compared to
 other interaction. Specifically, mid slope-bare stood out with highest soil loss and run off.
 Therefore, toe slope with grass cover was the most effective in reducing both RO and SL
 thus increased soil water balance.
- Proper protection of slopes from surface disturbances from raindrops can effectively reduce soil loss and runoff by using grass and tree covers to enhance deposition in the mid slopes.
- From the study results, soil greenhouse gas emissions were significantly influenced by topography and vegetation cover. Topography and vegetation cover primarily control the patterns of soil CH4, CO2 and N2O fluxes, therefore, topography and vegetation features must be included in the predictions soil carbon fluxes.
- Toe slope had the highest soil CO2 and N2O fluxes than the other zones mid slope and foot slope. Carbon dioxide and N₂O emissions were lowest in January and February and

it increased in March and April. The results from this study outlined the role of topography and vegetation covers on runoff, soil loss and soil water balance.

6.3 Recommendation

- Proper protection of slopes from surface disturbances can effectively reduce soil loss and runoff by using grass and tree covers to enhance deposition in the mid slopes.
- It will be recommendable that a policy that considers proper vegetation cover management be set up.
- Conservation measures for improvement of carbon sequestration should take into consideration the topography and the differences in vegetation cover for successful interventions.
- For better accurate and understanding, evaluation of soil management practices to reduce Greenhouse gas emission measurement of soil CO2 emissions should be done from different topographical zones and vegetation cover types allows the s.
- To help reduce global GHG emissions and maintaining or increasing crop productivity, there is a need to develop and implement measures that increase grass and tree cover to reduce emissions directly through carbon sequestration in the semi-arid wooded grasslands of Laikipia County.
References

Acharya BS, Hao Y, Ochsner TE, Zou CB. (2016). Woody plant encroachment alters soil hydrological properties and reduces downward flux of water in tallgrass prairie. Plant & Soil.:1±13. https://doi.org/10. 1007/s11104-016-3138-0

Adimassu Z, Haile N (2011) Runoff, soil loss and their relationships under different land uses in the central highlands of Ethiopia. Ethiopian J Appl Sci Technol 2(1):39–49

Adimassu Z, Mekonnen K, Yirga C, Kessler A (2014) Effect of soil bunds on runoff, soil and nutrient losses, and crop yield in the central highlands of Ethiopia. Land Degrad Dev 25(6):554–564

Aghabeigi Amin, S.; Moradi, H.R.; Fattahi, B., (2014). Sediment and Runoff Measurement in Different Rangeland Vegetation Types using Rainfall Simulator. Ecopersia., 2(2): 525-538.

Aijuan Wang, Baoyuan Liu, Zhiqiang Wang, Gang Liu, (2016). Monitoring and predicting the soil water content in the deeper soil profile of Loess Plateau, China. International Soil and Water Conservation Research Volume 4, Issue 1, March 2016, Pages 6–11

Alejandro Ponce-Mendoza, Juan Manuel Ceballos-Ramirez, Federico Gutierrez-Micelli and Luc Dendooven. 2010. Emission Of Nitrous Oxide And Carbon Dioxide From Semi-Arid tropical Soils In Chiapas México R. Bras. Ci. Solo, 34:1617-1628.

Ali, G.A., Roy, A.G., Legendre, P. (2010). Spatial relationships between soil moisture patterns and topographic variables at multiple scales in a humid temperate forested catchment. Water Resour. Res. 46, 2290–2296.

Allaire, S. E., Lange, S. F., Lafond, J. A., Pelletier, B., Cambouris, A. N., and Dutilleul, P. (2012). Multiscale spatial variability of CO2 emissions and correlations with physico-chemical soil properties, Geoderma, 170, 251–260,

Andersen, F. H (2008): Hydrological modelling in a semi-arid area using remote sensing data, Doctoral Thesis, Department of Geography and Geology, University of Copenhagen, Copenhagen. Andreas Guïntner (2004). Modeling spatial patterns of saturated areas: An evaluation of different terrain indices. WATER RESOURCES RESEARCH, nstitute of Hydrology, University of Freiburg, Freiburg, Germany VOL. 40, W05114,

Angel, R., Claus, P., Conrad, R. (2012). Methanogenic archaea are globally ubiquitous in aerated soils and become active under wet anoxic conditions. ISME J., 6: 847–862.

Arias-Navarro, C., Díaz-Pinés, E., Klatt, S., Brandt, P., Rufino, M.C., Butterbach-Bahl, K., and L.V. Verchot (2017). Spatial variability of 461 soil N2O and CO2 fluxes in different topographic positions in atropical montane forest in Kenya, Journal of Geophysical Research: 463 Biogeosciences 122(3): 514-527.

Asner, G.P., Archer, S., Hughes, R.F., Ansley, R.J., Wessman, C.A., (2003). Net changes in regional woody vegetation cover and carbon storage in Texas drylands, 1937-1999. Glob. Chang. Biol. 9, 316-335.

Baccini A. (2008). A first map of tropical Africa's above-ground biomass derived from satellite imagery. Environ. Res. Lett. 3, 045011.

Baggs, E., and L. Philippot (2010), Microbial terrestrial pathways to nitrous oxide, in K.A. Smith (Ed), *Nitrous oxide and climate change*, (256 pp. 4-35). London: Earthscan Ltd.

Bai, Z.G., Dent, D.L., Olsson, L. & Schaepman, M.E. (2008). Global assessment of land degradation and improvement. Report 2008/01. Wageningen, Netherlands, ISRIC –World Soil Information.

Bailey, N. J., Motavalli, P. P., Udawatta, R. P., and Nelson, K. A. (2009). Soil CO2 emissions in agricultural watersheds with agroforestry and grass contour buffer strips. *Agroforestry Systems*, 77, 143-158.

Balaine, N., T. J. Clough, M. H. Beare, S. M. Thomas, E. D. Meenken, and J.G. Ross (2013), Changes in relative gas diffusivity explain soil nitrous oxide flux dynamics, *Soil Science Society of America Journal*,470 77(5), 1496-1505. Banwart SA, Black H, Cai Z, Gicheru PT, Joosten H, Victoria RL, Milne E, Noellemeyer E, Pasual U 2015. The global challenge for soil carbon. In: SA Banwart, E Noellemeyer, Milne E (Eds). Soil carbon: Science, Management and Policy for multiple benefits. pp. 1-9.

Bellarby, J., Tirado, R., Leip, A., Weiss, F., Lesschen, J.P., Smith, P., 2013. Livestock greenhouse gas emissions and mitigation potential in Europe. Glob. Change Biol. 19, 3–18.

Bijoor NS, Czimczik CI, Pataki DE, Billings SA (2008). Effects of temperature and fertilization on nitrogen cycling and community composition of an urban lawn. Global Change Biology, **14**, 2119–2131.

Blair, N., Faulkner, R.D., Till, A.R., Poulton, P.R. 2006. Long-term management impacts on soil C, N, and physical fertility. Part 1. Broadbalk Expt. Soil Till. Res., 91: 30–38

Bobadoye, A.O.; Ogara, W.O.; Ouma, G.O.; Onono, J.O. (2016). Assessing climate change adaptation strategies among rural Maasai pastoralists in Kenya. Am. J. Rural Dev., 4, 120–128.

Bochet, E., 2015. The fate of seeds in the soil: a review of the influence of overland flow on seed removal and its consequences for the vegetation of arid and semiarid patchy ecosystems. Soil 1, 131–146.

Bond-Lamberty, B., Thomson, A., 2010. Temperature-associated increases in the global soil respiration record. Nature 464, 579–583.

Bontemps, S., Defourny, P., Bogaert, E.V., Arino, O., Kalogirou, V., Perez, J.R., 2011. Globcover 2009-Products Description and Validation Reports. Technical Report for ESA GlobCover project: UCLouvain & ESA Team pp. 53.

Borken W, Matzner E (2009). Reappraisal of drying and wetting effects on C and N mineralization and fluxes in soils. Glob Chang Biol 15:808–824.

Bruinsma, J., 2003. World Agriculture: Towards 2015/2030: An FAO Perspective. Earthscan, London

Buckeridge, K. M., Y. P. Cen, D. B. Layzell, and P. Grogan (2010). Soil biogeochemistry during the early spring in low arctic mesic tundra and the impacts of deepened snow and enhanced nitrogen availability, Biogeochemistry, 99(1), 127–141,

Butterbach-Bahl, K., E. M. Baggs, M. Dannenmann, R. Kiese, and S. Zechmeister-Boltenstern 2013. Nitrous oxide emissions from soils: how well do we understand the processes and their controls?, Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences, 368(1621), 20130122.

Cantón, Y.; Solé-Benet, A.; de Vente, J.; Boix-Fayos, C.; Calvo-Cases, A.; Asensio Puigdefábregas, J., (2011). A review of runoff generation and soil erosion across scales in semiarid south-eastern Spain. J. Arid Environ., 75: 1254-1261

Cao, L., Zhang, K., Zhang, W., 2009. Detachment of road surface soil by flowing water. Catena 76 (2), 155–162.

Cerdà, A.; Keesstra, S.D.; Rodrigo-Comino, J.; Novara, A.; Pereira, P.; Brevik, E.; Giménezorera, A.; Fernández-Raga, M.; Pulido, M.; di Prima, S.; et al. Runo_ initiation, soil detachment and connectivity are enhanced as a consequence of vineyards plantations. J. Environ. Manag. **2017**, 202, 268–275.

Chapuis-Lardy, L., Wrage, N., Metay, A., Chotte, J.L., Bernoux, M., 2007. Soils, a sink for N2O? A review. Global Change Biol. 13, 1–17.

Chen, L., Fu, B., Huang, Z., Wu, D., Gui, L. (2007). The effect of land uses and rainfall regimes on runoff and soil erosion in the semi-arid loess hilly area, China. Journal of Hydrology 335, 247–258.

Christiansen, J.R., Vesterdal, L., Gundersen, P. (2012). Nitrous oxide and methane exchange in 30 two small temperate forest catchments-effects of hydrological gradients and implications for global warming potentials of forest soils. Biogeochemistry, 107: 437–454.

Ciais, P., Bombelli, A., Williams, M., Piao, S.L., Chave, J., Ryan, C.M., Henry, M., Brender, P., Valentini, R., 2011. The carbon balance of Africa: synthesis of recent research studies.Phil. Trans. R. Soc. A 369, 2038–2057.

Compton, J. E., Church, M. R., Larned, S. T., & Hogsett, W. E. 2003. Nitrogen export from forested watersheds in the Oregon Coast Range: the role of N2-fixing red alder. *Ecosystems*, *6* (8), 773-785.

Conant, R.Tt. & Paustian, K. 2002. Spatial variability of organic carbon in grasslands: implications for detecting change at different scales. Environmental Pollution 116 127–135

Cosh MH, Stedinger JR, Brutsaert W. 2000.Variability of surface soil moisture at the watershed scale. Water Resour Res 4;40:W12513

Cresswell HP and Hamilton 2002 Particle Size Analysis. In: Soil Physical Measurement and Interpretation for Land Evaluation. (Eds. NJ McKenzie, HP Cresswell and KJ Coughlan) CSIRO Publishing: Collingwood, Victoria. pp 224-239.

Curry CL (2009) The consumption of atmospheric methane by soil in a simulated future climate. Biogeosciences 6: 2355–2367.

Dabasso, B.H., Zerihun, T., Dana, H (2014). Carbon stocks in semi-arid pastoral ecosystems of northern Kenya. Pastor. Res. Policy Pract. 4 (5), 1–8.

Dai, J., Chen, J., Cui, Y., He, Y., and Ma, J (2006): Impact of forest and grass ecosystems on the water budget of the catchments, Adv. Water Sci., 17, 435–443, (in Chinese with English Abstract).

Dai, Z., Trettin, C.C., Li, C., Li, H. (2012). Effect of assessment scale on spatial andtemporal variations in CH4CO2, and N2O fluxes in a forested wetland. WaterAir Soil Pollut. 223, 253–265.

Davidson, E.A., Janssens, I.A. (2006). Temperature sensitivity of soil carbon decomposition and feedbacks to climate change. Nature 440, 165–173.

Davies, C. E., Moss, D., Moss, M. O. 2004: EUNIS habitat classification revised 2004. Report to the European Topic Centre on Nature Protection and Biodiversity, European Environment Agency, Paris.

De Boer, H. J., Lammertsma, E. I., Wagner-Cremer, F., Wassen, M. J., Dilcher, D. L., and Dekker, S. C. 2011: Climate forcing due to optimization of maximal leaf conductance in subtropical vegetation, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA, 108, 4041–4046,

Dieleman WI, Luyssaert S, Rey A, de Angelis P, Barton CV, Broadmeadow MS, Broadmeadow SB, Chigwerewe KS, Crookshanks M, Dufrene E e. (2010). Soil [N] modulates soil C cycling in CO2-fumigated tree stands: a metaanalysis. Plant, Cell & Environment 33: 2001–2011.

Ding W, Cai Z, Tsuruta H, Li X (2003). Key factors affecting spatial variation of methane emissions from freshwater marshes. Chemosphere. 51:167–173.

D'Odorico, P., Porporato, A. (2006). Ecohydrology of arid and semiarid ecosystems: an introduction. In: D'Odorico, P., Porporato, A. (Eds.), Printed in the Netherlands. Dryland Ecohydrology. Springer, pp. 1–10.

Doherty, J.E., (2010). PEST, Model-Independent Parameter Estimation—User Manual. Watermark Numerical Computing, Brisbane

Don A, Schumacher J, Scherer-Lorenzen M, (2007). Spatial and vertical variation of soil carbon at two grassland sites–implications for measuring soil carbon stocks. Geoderma, 141: 272–282.

Don A., Schumacher J., Freibauer A (2011). Impact of tropical land-use change on soil organic carbon stocks - a meta-analysis. Global Change Biology 17, 1658-1670.

Dosskey, M. G., Vidon, P., Gurwick, N. P., Allan, C. J., Duval, T. P., & Lowrance, R. (2010). The role of riparian vegetation in protecting and improving chemical water quality in streams. Journal of the American Water Resources Association, 46 (2), 261-277.

Du, Z., Riveros-Iregui, D. A., Jones, R. T., McDermott, T. R., Dore, J. E., McGlynn, B. L., Emanuel, R. E., and Li, X. (2015). Landscape position influences microbial composition and function via redistribution of soil water across a watershed, Appl. Environ. Microb., 81, 8457–8468, https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.02643-15,.

Durán, Z.V.H.; Rodríguez, P.C.R., (2008). Soil-erosion and runoff prevention by plant covers. A review. Agron. Sustain. Dev. 28: 65-86.

Dyer, L., Oelbermann, M., & Echarte, L. (2012). Soil carbon dioxide and nitrous oxide emissions during the growing season from temperate maize-soybean intercrops. Journal of Plant Nutrition and Soil Science, 175 (3), 394-400.

Dyer, L., Oelbermann, M., & Echarte, L. (2012). Soil carbon dioxide and nitrous oxide emissions during the growing season from temperate maize-soybean intercrops. Journal of Plant Nutrition and Soil Science, 175 (3), 394-400.

Ebabu, K., Tsunekawa, A., Haregeweyn, N., Adgo, E., Meshesha, D.T., Aklog, D., Masunaga, T., Tsubo, M., Sultan, D., Fenta, A.A., Mesenbet, Y. (2018). Analyzing the variability of sediment yield: a case study from paired watersheds in the Upper Blue Nile basin, Ethiopia. Geomorphology 303, 446–455.

Edward Amara, Janne Heiskanen, Ermias Betemariam, Petri KE Pellikka (2019). Relationship between carbon stocks and tree species diversity in a humid Guinean savanna landscape in northern Sierra Leone. Journal of Forest Science *ISSN 2070-2620*

Eldridge, D.J., Bowker, M.A., Maestre, F.T., Roger, E., Reynolds, J.F. &Whitford, W.G. 2011. Impacts of shrub encroachment on ecosystem structure and functioning: towards a global synthesis. Ecology Letters 14: 709–722.

Eleanor HobleyA and Garry Willgo (2010). Measuring soil organic carbon stocks – issues and considerations. © 2010 19th World Congress of Soil Science, Soil Solutions for a Changing World 1 - 6 August 2010, Brisbane, Australia. Published on DVD.

Eric K. A. Twum, and Seth Nii-Annang (2015). Impact of Soil Compaction on Bulk Density and Root Biomass of Quercus petraea L. at Reclaimed Post-Lignite Mining Site in Lusatia, Germany. Applied and Environmental Soil Science Volume 2015. Esmaeilzadeh J, Ahangar AG (2014). Influence of soil organic matter content on soil physical, chemical and biological properties. Inter. J. Plant Anim. Environ. Sci. 4(4):244-252.

Eyayu, M., Heluf, G., Tekaliign, M., and Mohammed, A. (2009). Effects of land use change on selected soil spatial variability of soil organic carbon. Pedosphere 23 (1), 48–58.

F.R. Li, S.L. Zhao, G.T. Geballe, (2000). Water use patterns and agronomic performance for some cropping systems with and without fallow crops in a semi-arid environment of northwest China, Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment 79 129–142.

Faber-Langendoen, D., Keeler-Wolf, T., Meidinger, D., Tart, D., Hoagland, B., Josse, C., Navarro, G., Ponomarenko, J. P. S., Weakley, A. & Comer, P. (2014): EcoVeg: a new approach to vegetation description and classification. Ecological Monographs, 84(4): 533-561.

Falk, J.M., Schmidt, N.M. & Ström, L. (2014). Effects of simulated increased grazing on carbon allocation patterns in a high arctic mire. Biogeochemistry, 119, 229–244.

Falloon, P., 2001. Large scale spatial modelling of soil organic matter dynamics. PhD Thesis, School of Life and Environmental Sciences, University of Nottingham, UK

Fan J, Scheuermann A, Guyot A, Baumgartl T, Lockington DA. (2015). Quantifying spatiotemporal dynamics of root-zone soil water in a mixed forest on subtropical coastal sand dune using surface ERT and spatial TDR. Journal of Hydrology.; 523:475±88. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhydrol.2015.01.064

Fang J Y, Yang Y H, Ma W H, et al. 2010. Ecosystem carbon stocks and their changes in China's grasslands. Science in China: Life Sciences, 53: 757–765.

FAO. (2009). Enabling agriculture to contribute to climate change mitigation (available at http://unfccc.int/resource/docs/2008/smsn/igo/036.pdf

Farhan Y, Nawaiseh S. (2015). Spatial assessment of soil erosion risk using RUSLE and GIS techniques. Environ Earth Sci 74(6):4649–4669

Farquharson, R., and Baldock, J. (2008). Concepts in modelling N2O emissions from land use. *Plant and Soil*, *1-2*, 147-167.

Fernández-Romero, M.L., Lozano-García, B., Parras-Alcántara, L., (2014). Topography and land use change effects on the soil organic carbon stock of forest soils in Mediterranean natural areas. Agric. Ecosyst. Environ. 195, 1–9.

Fortier, J., Gagnon, D., Truax, B., and Lambert, F. (2010). Nutrient accumulation and carbon sequestration in 6-year-old hybrid poplars in multiclonal agricultural riparian buffer strips. *Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment, 137* (3), 276-287.

Fritz, C., Pancotto, V.A., Elzenga, J.T.M., Visser, E.J.W., Grootjans, A.P., Pol, A., Iturraspe, R., Roelofs, J.G.M. & Smolders, A.J.P. (2011). Zero methane emission bogs: Extreme rhizosphere oxygenation by cushion plants in Patagonia. New Phytologist, 190, 398–408.

Fritz, C., Pancotto, V.A., Elzenga, J.T.M., Visser, E.J.W., Grootjans, A.P., Pol, A., Iturraspe, R., Roelofs, J.G.M. & Smolders, and A.J.P. 2011 Zero methane emission bogs: Extreme rhizosphere oxygenation by cushion plants in Patagonia. New Phytologist, 190, 398–408.

Fu, B. J., S. L. Liu, K. M. Ma, and Y. G. Zhu. (2004). Relationships between soil characteristics, topography and plant diversity in a heterogeneous deciduous broad-leaved forest near Beijing, China.Plant and Soil 261:47–54.

G[°]untner, A. and Bronstert, A. (2004): Representation of landscape variability and lateral redistribution5processes for large-scale hydrological modelling in semi-arid areas, J. Hydrol., 297, 136–161.

García-Marco, S., S. Ravella, D. Chadwick, A. Vallejo, A. Gregory, and L.Cárdenas (2014), Ranking factors affecting emissions of GHG from incubated agricultural soils, *European journal of soil science*, *65*(4), 545 573-583.

Garcia-Pausas J, Casals P, Camarero L, (2007). Soil organic carbon storage in mountain grasslands of the Pyrenees: effects of climate and topography. Biogeochemistry, 82: 279–289.

Garnett, T., (2009). Livestock-related greenhouse gas emissions: impacts and options for policymakers. Environ. Sci. Policy 12, 491–503.

Garrido F., Hénault C., Gaillard H., Pérez S., Germon J.C. (2002). N₂O and NO emissions by agricultural soils with low hydraulic potentials. Soil Biol. Biochem., 34, 559-575.

Gedir, J. V., Donkor, N. T., Hudson, R. J., Bork, E. W., Chanasyk, D. S. and Naeth, M. A. (2002). Impacts of grazing systems on soil compaction and pasture production in Alberta. Canadian Journal of Soil Science 82, p. 1-8.

Georgiadis, N. J., Olwero, J. N., and Romañach, S. S. (2007). Savanna herbivore dynamics in a livestock-dominated landscape: I. Dependence on land use, rainfall, density, and time. Biological Conservation, 137(3), 461-472.

Gerber, P.J., Steinfeld, H., Henderson, B., Mottet, A., Opio, C., Dijkman, J., Falcucci, A., Tempio, G., (2013). Tackling Climate Change through Livestock: A Global Assessment of Emissions and Mitigation Opportunities. FAO, Rome.

Gholami L, Sadeghi SH, Homaee M (2013) Straw mulching effect on splash erosion, runoff, and sediment yield from eroded plots. Soil Sci Soc Am J 77: 268–278

Goetz, S. J., A. Baccini, N. T. Laporte, T. Johns, W. Walker, J. Kellndorfer, R. A Houghton and M. Sun. 2009. Mapping and monitoring carbon stocks with satellite observations: a comparison of methods. Carbon Balance and Management 4:2.

GOK (2013). Laikipia County: First County Development Integrated Development Plan, 2013–2017; Government Press: Nairobi, Kenya,.

Gomez-Plaza, A., Alvarez-Rogel, J., Albaladejo, J., and Castillo, V. M. 2000. Spatial patterns and temporal stability of soil moisture across a range of scales in a semi-arid environment, Hydrol. Process. 14, 1261–1277.

Gómez-Plaza, A., Alvarez-Rogel, J., Albaladejo, J., and Castillo, V. M. (2000): Spatial patterns and temporal stability of soil moisture across a range of scales in a semi-arid environment, Hydrol. Process., 14, 1261–1277.

Grant, B., Smith, W.N., Desjardins, R., Lemkc, R., and C. Li, (2004). Estimated N2O and CO2 emissions as influenced by agricultural practices in Canada. Can. J. Soil Sci.

Greg A. Barron-Gafford, Russell L. Scott, G. Darrel Jenerette, and Travis E. Huxman1. (2010). The relative controls of temperature, soil moisture, and plantfunctional group on soil CO2efflux at diel, seasonal, and annual scales. JOURNAL OF GEOPHYSICAL RESEARCH, VOL. 116, G01023, doi:10.1029/2010JG001442,

Gremer JR, Bradford JB, Munson SM, Duniway MC. (2015). Desert grassland responses to climate and soil moisture suggest divergent vulnerabilities across the southwestern U.S.Global Change Biology21: 4049–4062.

Groffman PM, Hardy JP, Driscoll CT, Fahey TJ (2006). Snow depth, soil freezing, and fluxes of carbon dioxide, nitrous oxide and methane in a northern hardwood forest. Global Change Biol 12(9): 1748–1760.

Grzyl, A.,Kiedrzyński, M.,Zielińska, K.M.,&Rewicz,A.(2014).The relationship between climatic conditions and generative reproduction of a lowland population of Pulsatilla vernalis: The last breath of a relict plant or a fluctuating cycle of regeneration?. Plant Ecology, 215(4), 457–466.

Gundersen, P., Christiansen, J.R., Alberti, G., Brüggemann, N., Castaldi, S., Gasche, R.,Kitzler, B., Klemedtsson, L., Lobo-do-Vale, R., Moldan, F., Rütting, T., Schleppi, P.,Weslien, P., Zechmeister-Boltenstern, S., (2012). The response of methane andnitrous oxide fluxes to forest change in Europe. Biogeoscience 9, 3999–4012.

Guo Y, Li Z, Amo-Boateng M, Deng P, Huang P (2014). Quantitative assessment of the impact of climate variability and human activities on runoff changes for the upper reaches of Weihe River. Stoch Environ Res Risk Assess 28(2):333–346

Guo, R., Wang, X.K., Lu, F., Duan, X.N., Ouyang, Z.Y., (2008). Soil carbon sequestration and its potential by grassland ecosystems in China. Acta Ecol. Sin. 28, 862–867.

H. Hurni, K. Herweg, and B. Portner, (2008). Soil Erosion and Conservation in Global Agriculture, pp. 41–71, Springer, Dordrecht, Netherlands,.

H. Li, R. M. Cruse, R. L. Bingner, K. R. Gesch, and X. Zhang, (2016). "Evaluating ephemeral gully erosion impact on Zea mays L. yield and economics using AnnAGNPS," Soil and Tillage Research, vol. 155, pp. 157–165.

Haas, E., Klatt, S., Fröhlich, A., Kraft, P., Werner, C., Kiese, R., Grote, R., Breuer, L., Butterbach-Bahl., (2013). Landscape DNDC: a process model for simulation of biosphere– atmosphere–hydrosphere exchange processes at site and regional scale. Landsc. Ecol. 28, 615– 636.

Haggard BE, Moore PA Jr, Brye KR. (2005). Effect of slope on runoff from a small variable slope box–plot. J EnvironHydrol 13: Paper 25.

Halabuk, A.; Mojses, M.; Halabuk, M.; David, S. (2015). Towards detection of cutting in hay meadows by using of NDVI and EVI time series. *Remote Sens.* 7, 6107–6132.

He L, Ivanov VY, Bohrer G, Maurer KD, Vogel CS, Moghaddam M. (2014). Effects of fine scale soil moisture and canopy heterogeneity on energy and water fluxes in a northern temperate mixed forest. Agric For Meteorol; 184:243–56.

Holiûeld Collins C.D.; Stone, J.J.; Cratic, L. (2015). Runoff and sediment yield relationships with soil aggregate stability for a state-and-transition model in southeastern Arizona. J. Arid Environ., 117: 96-103.

Hou J, Fu BJ, Wang S. (2014). Comprehensive analysis of relationship between vegetation attributes and soil erosion on hillslopes in the Loess Plateau of China. *Environmental Earth Sciences* 72: 1721-1731.

Hubbard, R. M., Ryan, M. G., Elder, K., and Rhoades, C. C. (2005). Seasonal patterns in soil surface CO2 flux under snow cover in 50 and 300 year old subalpine forests, Biogeochemistry, 73, 93–107,

Hupet F, Vanclooster M. (2002). Intraseasonal dynamics of soil moisture variability within a small agricultural maize cropped field. J Hydrol 261:86–101.

71

Idris, A. (2011). Taking the camel through the eye of a needle: Enhancing pastoral resilience through education policy in Kenya. Resil. Interdiscip. Perspect. Sci. Humanit., 2, 25–38.

Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (2007). Agriculture. In: Climate change 2007. Contribution of Working Group III to the Fourth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Cambridge, United Kingdom: Cambridge University Press. pp. 499– 540.

Inubushi, K., Furukawa, Y., Hadi, A., Purnomo, E., Tsuruta, H. (2003). Seasonal changes of CO2, CH4 and N2O fluxes in relation to land-use change in tropical peatlands located in coastal area of South Kalimantan. Chemosphere, 52: 603–608.

IPCC (Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change), (2013): The physical science basis. In: Stocker, T.F., Qin, D., Plattner, G.-K., Tignor, M.,

IPCC (2004). Good Practice Guidance on Land Use Change and Forestry in National Greenhouse Gas Inventories. Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC), Institute for Global Environmental Strategies, Tokyo, Japan (in press).

IPCC. (2006). Guidelines for national greenhouse gas inventories. Kanagawa, Japan, National Greenhouse Gas Inventories Programme.

IPCC. (2014). Agriculture, forestry and other land use AFOLU In: Climate change 2014: Mitigation of climate change. Contribution of Working Group III to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Chap. 11. Cambridge Univ. Press, Cambridge, UK.

IPPC. (2001). The scientific basis. Contribution of working group I to the third assessment report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC). In J.T. Houghton et al. (eds.) Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK

J.E., Arge, L., Bøcher, P.K., Dalgaard, T., Odgaard, M.V., Nygaard, B., & Svenning, J.C. (2013). Topogra phically controlled soil moisture is the primary driver of local vegetation patterns across a lowland region. Ecosphere, 4(7), 1–26.

Jackson L.E., Calderón F.J., Steenwerth K.L., Scow K.M., Rolston D.E. (2003). Response of soil microbial processes and continuity structure to tillage events and implications to soil quality. Geoderma, 3-4, 305-317,

Jackson RB, Banner JL, Jobbagy EG, Pockman WT, Wall DH (2002). Ecosystem carbon loss with woody plant invasion of grasslands. Nature, 418, 623–626.

Jaetzold, R., Schmidt, H., Hornet, Z. B. and Shisanya, C. A. (2006). Farm Management Handbook of Kenya. Conditions and Farm Information (Eastern Province), (11)/C, 2nd Ed. Nairobi, Kenya: Ministry Of Agriculture/GTZ.

Janssens, I.A., Freiber, A., Ciais, P., Smith, P., Nabuurs, G.-J., Folberth, G., Schlamadinger, B., Hutjes, R.W.A., Ceulemans, R., Schulze, E.-D., Valentini, R. and Dolman, A.J. 2003. Europe's terrestrial biosphere absorbs 7 to 12% of European anthropogenic CO2 emissions. Science, 300: 1538–1542.

Jeltsch F, Weber GE, Grimm V. (2017). Ecological buffering mechanisms in savannas: a unifying theory of long-term tree-grass. *Plant Ecology* 150: 161–171.

Jin, T. T., Fu, B. J., Liu, G. H. and Wang, Z. (2011). Hydrologic feasibility of artificial forestation in the semi-arid Loess Plateau of China. Hydrol. Earth Syst. Sci. 15, 2519–2530.

Jing Zhou , Dan He , Yufeng Xie, Yong Liu, Yonghui Yang, Hu Sheng, Huaicheng Guo, Lei Zhao, Rui Zou. (2015). Integrated SWAT model and statistical downscaling for estimating streamflow response to climate change in the Lake Dianchi. Article in Stochastic Environmental Research and Risk Assessment

Jobbagy, E. G., & Jackson, R. B. 2000. The vertical distribution of soil organic carbon and its relation to climate and vegetation. *Ecological Applications*, *10* (2), 423-436.

Jones, R. J. A., Hiederer, R., Rusco, E., Loveland, P. J., Montanarella, L. 2005: Estimating organic carbon in the soils of Europe for policy support, Eur. J. Soil Sci., 56, 655–671

K. Tr[°]ukmann, E. Reintam, J.Kuht, E.Nugis, and L. Edesi, 2008. "Effect of soil compaction on growth of narrow—leafed lupine, oilseed rape and spring barley on sandy loam soil," Agronomy Research, vol. 6, no. 1, pp. 101–108,

K.K. Benke, K.E. Lowell, A.J. Hamilton 2008. Parameter uncertainty, sensitivity analysis and prediction error in a water-balance hydrological model, Mathematical and Computer Modelling 47 1134–1149.

Katayanagi N, Hatano R (2012) N2O emissions during the freezing and thawing periods from six fields in a livestock farm, southern Hokkaido, Japan. Soil Sci Plant Nutr 58(2): 261–271.

Kateb, H.E.; Zhang, H.; Zhang, P.; Mosandl, R., 2013. Soil erosion and surface runoff on different vegetation covers and slope gradients: A field experiment in Southern Shaanxi Province, China. Catena, 105: 1-10

Keim,R.F.,Skaugset,A.E.,Weiler,M. (2006). Storage of water on vegetation under simulated rainfall of varying intensity.Adv.WaterResour..29,974–986,

Keppler, F.; Hamilton, J.T.G.; Brass, M., Röckmann, T. 2006. Methane emissions from terrestrial plants under aerobic conditions. Nature, 439:187-191.

Kgope, B. S., Bond, W. J., and Midgley, G. F. 2010. Growth responses of African savanna trees implicate atmospheric CO2 as a driver of past and current changes in savanna tree cover, Austral Ecol., 35, 451–463,.

Kiese R., Butterbach-Bahl K. (2002). N₂O and CO₂ emissions from three different tropical forest sites in the wet tropics of Queensland, Australia. Soil Biol. Biochem., 34, 975-987,.

Kim, D. G., Isenhart, T. M., Parkin, T. B., Schultz, R. C., Loynachan, T. E., & Raich, J. W. (2009). Nitrous oxide emissions from riparian forest buffers, warm-season and cool-season grass filters, and crop fields. Biogeosciences Discussions, 6, 607-650.

Kim, Y. (2015). Effect of thaw depth on fluxes of CO2and CH4in manipulated Arcticcoastal tundra of Barrow. Sci. Total Environ. 505, 385–389.

Kindt R, van Breugel P, Orwa C, Lillesø JPB, Jamnadass R and Graudal L 2015. Useful tree species for Eastern Africa: a species selection tool based on the VECEA map. Version 2.0. World Agroforestry Centre (ICRAF) and Forest & Landscape Denmark.

Kirkpatrick, J.B., Green, K., Bridle, K.L., and Venn, S.E. (2014). Patterns of variation in Australian alpine soils and their relationships to parent material, vegetation formation, climate and topography. Catena, 121, 186–194.

Knorr, W., Prentice, I. C., House, J. I., and Holland, E. A. (2005): Longterm sensitivity of soil carbon turnover to global warming, Nature, 433, 298–301.

Kool, D.M., Dolfing, J., Wrage, N., Van, Groenigen, J.W., (2011). Nitrifier denitrification as a distinct and significant source of nitrous oxide from soil. Soil Biol Biochem., 43:174–178.

Kratli, S, and N Schareika. (2010). Living off uncertainty: The intelligent animal production of dryland pastoralists. European Journal of Development Research 22: 605–622.

Lal, R. (2004). Soil carbon sequestration impacts on global climate change and food security. *Science*, 304(5677): 1623-1627

Langley SK, Cheshire HM, Humes KS. (2001). A comparison of single date and multitemporal satellite image classifications in a semi-arid grassland. J Arid Environ; 49:401-11

Le Mer, J., Roger, P. (2001). Production, oxidation, emission and consumption of methane by soils: a review. Eur. J. Soil Biol. 37, 25–50.

Leip A, G. Marchi, R. Koeble, M. Kempen, W. Britz, C. Li. 2008. Linking an economic model for European agriculture with a mechanistic model to estimate nitrogen and carbon losses from arable soils in Europe, Biogeosciences, 5, 73-94.

Lenoir, J. (2013). Local temperatures inferred from plant communities suggest strong spatial buffering of climate warming across Northern Europe. Global Change Biology 19:1470–1481.

Li, F., L. Zhao, H. Zhang, J. Liu, H. Lu, and L. Kang. (2009). Habitat degradation, topography and rainfall variability interact to determine seed distribution and recruitment in a sand dune grassland. Journal of Vegetation Science 20:847–859.

Li, Q., Yu, P., Li, G., Zhou, D., Chen, X., (2014). Overlooking soil erosion induces underestimation of the soil Closs in degraded land. Quaternary Int. 349, 287–290.

Liao Y, Wu WL, Meng FQ, Smith P, Lal R 2015. Increase in soil organic carbon by agricultural intensification in northern China. Biogeosciences 12:1403-1413.

Liming Lai, Sandeep Kumar, Rajesh Chintala, Vance N. Owens, David Clay, Joseph Schumacher, Abdul-Sattar Nizami, Sang Soo Lee, Rashad Rafique, 2016. Modeling the impacts of temperature and precipitation changes on soil CO2 fluxes from a Switchgrass stand recently converted from cropland. Journal of environmental sciences p 15-25

Lin BB. (2010). The role of agroforestry in reducing water loss through soil evaporation and crop transpiration in coffee agroecosystems. Agric For Meteorol 150:510–8.

Lin, Y., and Wang,G.X. (2010). Scale effect on runoff in alpine mountain catchments on China's Gongga Mountain. Hydrology Earth System Science Discussion, *7*, 2157–2186.

Lin,Y.,Cui,P.,Ge,Y.,Chen,C., and Wang,D.(2014). The succession characteristic of soil erosion during different vegetation succession stages in dry-hot river valley of Jinsha River upper reaches of Yangtze River. Ecological Engineering, 62, 13–26.

Liptzin, D., Silver, W. L., and Detto, M. (2011). Temporal dynamics in soil oxygen and greenhouse gases in two humid tropical forests, Ecosystems, 14, 171–182, https://doi.org/10.1007/s10021-010- 9402-x,

Liski, J., Lehtonen, A., Palosuo, T., Peltoniemi, M., Eggers, T., Muukkonen, P., and Mäkipää, R. (2006). Carbon accumulation in Finland's forests 1922-2004 - an estimate obtained by a combination of forest inventory data with modeling of biomass, litter, and soil. Annals of Forest Science 63(7):687-697.

Liu Y, Fu B J, Lu Y H (2013). Linking vegetation cover patterns to hydrological responses using two process-based pattern indices at the plot scale. Science China-Earth Sciences , 56(11): 1888–1898.

Liu, Q., McVicar, T.R., (2012). Assessing climate change induced modification of Penman potential evaporation and runoff sensitivity in a large water-limited basin. J. Hydrol. 464–465, 352–362.

LM Merbold and GW Wohlfahrt, (2012). Greenhouse gas emissions from grasslands: current knowledge and Challenges. Geophysical Research Abstracts Vol. 14, EGU2012-7140, 2012 EGU General Assembly 2012.

Lorenz K, Lal R, Preston CM, Nierop KGJ (2007). Strengthening the soil organic carbon pool by increasing contributions from recalcitrant aliphatic bio(macro)molecules. Geoderma 142, 1-10.

Lucht, W., Schaphoff, S., Erbrecht, T., Heyder, U., Cramer, W. (2006): Terrestrial vegetation redistribution and carbon balance under climate change, Carbon Balance and Management, p. 7.

Ludwig B, Teepe R, Lopes de Gerenyu V, Flessa H (2006). CO2 and N2O emissions from gleyic soils in the Russian tundra and a German forest during freeze-thaw periods-a microcosm study. Soil Biol Biochem 38(12): 3516–3519.

Luo, G. J., Kiese, R., Wolf, B., and Butterbach-Bahl, K. (2013). Effects of soil temperature and moisture on methane uptake and nitrous oxide emissions across three different ecosystem types, Biogeosciences, 10, 3205–3219, https://doi.org/10.5194/bg-10-3205-2013,

Lutes, K. (2016). The effect of fertilizer application on greenhouse gas emissions from willow short rotation coppice systems in southern Ontario, Canada. MES Thesis, Environment and Resource Studies. Waterloo: University of Waterloo

Lutes, K., Oelbermann, M., Thevathasan, N. V., & Gordon, A. M. (2016). Effect of nitrogen fertilizer on greenhouse gas emissions in two willow clones (Salix miyabeana and S. dasyclados) in southern Ontario, Canada. Agroforestry Systems , 90, 785-797.

Lv P, Dong Z (2011). Study of the windbreak effect of shrubs as a function of shrub cover and height. Environmental Earth Sciences. 66(7):1791±5. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12665-011-1402-4

M. Ahmad, W.G.M. Bastiaanssen, R.A. Feddes, (2002). Sustainable use of groundwater for irrigation: a numerical analysis of the subsoil water fluxes, Irrigation and Drainage 51 227–241.

Maia S M F, Ogle S M, Cerri C E P, (2009). Effect of grassland management on soil carbon sequestration in Rondônia and Mato Grosso states, Brazil. Geoderma, 149: 84–91.

Mäkipää, R., Häkkinen, M., Muukkonen, P. and Peltoniemi, M. (2008). The costs of monitoring changes in forest soil carbon stocks. Boreal Environment Research 13: 120-130.

Mander, U., Lohmus, K., Teiter, S., & Augustin, J. (2008). Gaseous nitrogen and carbon fluxes in riparian alder stands. *Environmental Research*, *13*, 231-241.

Manjarrez-Dominguez, C., Pinedo-Alvarez, A., Pinedo-Alvarez, C., Villarreal-Guerrero, F., & Cortes-Palacios, L. (2015). Vegetation landscape analysis due to land use changes on arid lands. Polish Journal of Ecology, 63, 167-174.

Martínez-Cortina, L., Mejías-Moreno, M., Díaz-Munoz, J. A., Morales-García, R., and Ruiz Hernández, J. M (2011). Estimation of groundwater resources in the upper guadiana basin together with some observations concerning the definitions of renewable and available resources. *Boletin Geológico y Minero [In Spanish] 112*, 1, 17–36.

Martinez-Fernandez J, Ceballos A. (2000). Temporal stability of soil moisture in a large-field experiment in Spain. Soil Sci Soc Am J 3;67:1647–1656

Mascaro G, Vivoni ER, Deidda R. (2010). Downscaling soil moisture in the southern Great Plains through a calibrated multifractal model for land surface modeling applications. Water Resour Res 46:1–18. Article number: W08546.

Matsuura S, Sasaki H, Kohyama K. (2012). Organic carbon stocks in grassland soils and their spatial distribution in Japan. Grassland Science, 58: 79–93.

Merbold, L., Steinlin, C., and Hagedorn, F. (2014). Winter greenhouse gas fluxes (CO2, CH4, & N2O) from a subalpine grassland. *Biogeosciences*, *10*, 3185-3203.

Merz, R.,Blöschl, G., and Parajka,J. (2006).Spatio-temporal variability of event runoff coefficients. Journal of Hydrology, 331, 591–604.

Metcalfe, D. B. (2007), Factors controlling spatiotemporal variation in carbon dioxide efflux from surface litter, roots, and soil organic matter at four rain forest sites in the eastern Amazon, J. Geophys. Res., 112, G04001.

Meyles E, Williams A, Ternan L, Dowd J. (2003). Runoff generation in relation to soil moisture patterns in a small Dartmoor catchment, Southwest England. Hydrological Processes 17:251–264.

Middelburg, J. J., Nieuwenhuize, J., Iversen, N., Hogh, N., De Wilde, H., Helder, W., Seifert, R. and Christof, O. (2002). Methane distribution in European tidal estuaries. *Biogeochemistry*, 59 (1-2): 95-119.

Miitta Rantakari, Aleksi Lehtonen, Jari Liski, Pekka Tamminen, Juha Heikkinen, Mikko Tuomi, Raisa Mäkipää, Tapio Linkosalo, Hannu Ilvesniemi. (2007). FINAL REPORT.Testing validity of soil carbon model Yasso07 against empirical data

Moeslund, J. E., L. Arge, P. K. Bøcher, T. Dalgaard, M. V. Odgaard, B. Nygaard, and J.-C. Svenning. (2013). Topographically controlled soil moisture is the primary driver of local vegetation patterns across a lowland region. Ecosphere 4(7):91. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1890/ES13-00134.1</u>

Mojiri, A., Aziz, H. A., and Ramaji, A. (2012). Potential decline in soil quality attributes as a result of land use change in a hill slope in Lordegan, Western Iran. African Journal of Agricultural Research, 7(4), 577-582.

Montgomery, D.R. (2007). Soil erosion and agricultural sustainability. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA, 104, 13268– 13272. [CrossRef] [PubMed]

Moriasi, D. N, Arnold, J. G., Van Liew, M.W., Bingner, R. L., Harem, R. D., and Veith, T. L. (2007): Model evaluation guidelines for systematic quantification of accuracy in watershed simulations, T. 10 ASABE, 50, 850–900,.

Mugasha, W. (2009). Assessment of Carbon storage Potential in Agroforestry system at Matombo village Morogoro Tanzania. Dissertation for Award of the Master of Science degree at Sokoine University of Agriculture, Morogoro, Tanzania. 79pp

Munishi, P.K.T., Shear T. H., Wentworth T. R., Temu, R. P. C. and Maliondo, S. M. (2004). The sparse distribution pattern of some plant species in two Afromontane rainforests of eastern arc mountains of Tanzania. Tanzania Journal of Forestry and Nature Conservation 75: 74 – 90.

Murray Patterson _and_ Susanne Becken (2006). Measuring National Carbon Dioxide Emissions from Tourism as a Key Step towards Achieving Sustainable Tourism. <u>Journal of Sustainable</u> <u>Tourism</u> Volume 14, 323-338

Muya E M, Obanyi S, Ngutu M, Sijali I V, Okoti M P, Maingi M and Bulle H. (2011). The physical and chemical characteristics of soils of Northern Kenya arid-lands: opportunity for sustainable agricultural production. Journal of Soil Science and Environmental Management 2: 1-8.

Negassa, W., R. F. Price, A. Basir, S. S. Snapp, and A. Kravchenko (2015). Cover crop and tillage systems effect on soil CO2 and N2O fluxes in contrasting topographic positions, Soil and Tillage Research, 154, 64-74.

Negassa, W., R. F. Price, A. Basir, S. S. Snapp, and A. Kravchenko (2015). Cover crop and tillage systems effect on soil CO2 and N2O fluxes in contrasting topographic positions, Soil and Tillage Research, 154, 64-74.

Neil Saintilan and Kerrylee Rogers (2015). Woody plant encroachment of grasslands: a comparison of terrestrial and wetland settings. New Phytologist (2015) 205: 1062–1070 ww.newphytologist.com.

Nicolini, G., Castaldi, S., Fratini, G., Valentini, R., (2013). A literature overview of micrometeorological CH4and N2O flux measurements in terrestrial ecosystems. Atmos. Environ. 81, 311–319.

Nobuko Katayanagi and Ryusuke Hatano (2012). N2O emissions during the freezing and thawing periods from six fields in a livestock farm, southern Hokkaido, Japan, Soil Science and Plant Nutrition, 58:2, 261-271

Nori, M. (2006). Mobile livelihoods, patchy resources & shifting rights: approaching pastoral territories. International Land Coalition. Working draft for discussion http://www.landcoalition.org/sites/default/files/legacy/legacypdf/

Odadi, W.O. (2010). Competitive and facilitative interactions between cattle and wild ungulates in a semi-arid savanna rangeland in Laikipia, Kenya. PhD Dissertation. Egerton University, Njoro, Kenya

Oelbermann, M., Raimbault, B. A., & Gordon, A. M. (2015). Riparian land use and rehabilitation: impact on organic matter input and soil respiration. *Environmental Management*, *55*, 496-507.

Ogban P.I., Babalola O. (2009). Characteristics, clas-sification and management of inland valley bottom soils for crop production in subhumid southwestern Nigeria. Agro-Science, 8: 1–13.

Ojwang GO, Agatsiva J, Situma C. (2010). Analysis of climate change and variability risks in the smallholder sector case studies of the Laikipia and Narok Districts representing major agroecological zones in Kenya. Rome: Electric Publishing Policy and Support Branch Community Division, FAO.

Okalebo, J.R., Gathua, K.W. and Woomer, P.L. 2002.Laboratory methods of soil and plant analysis: A working manual, 2nd Edition. Tropical Soil Biology and Fertility Programme. Soil Society of East Africa Technical

Økland, R. H., K. Rydgren, and T. Økland. (2008). Species richness in boreal swamp forests of SE Norway: the role of surface microtopography. Journal of Vegetation Science 19:67–74.

Olson, D.M., Dinerstein, E., Wikramanayake, E.D., Burgess, N.D., Powell, G.V.N., Underwood, E.C., D'Amico, J.A., Itoua, I., Strand, H.E., Morrison, J.C., Loucks, C.J., Allnutt, T.F., Ricketts, T.H., Kura, Y., Lamoreux, J.F., Wettengel, W.W., Hedao, P. & Kassem, K.R. (2001). Terrestrial ecoregions of the world: a new map of life on Earth. BioScience, 51, 933–938.

Oueslati, I., Allamano, P., Bonifacio, E., Claps, P., (2013). Vegetation and topographic control on spatial variability of soil organic carbon. Pedosphere 23 (1), 48–58.

Ouma, C.; Obando, J.; Koech, M. (2012). Post drought recovery strategies among the Turkana pastoralists in Northern Kenya. Sch. J. Biotechnol., 1, 90–100.

Pacific, V. J., Jencso, K. G., and McGlynn, B. L. (2010). Variable flushing mechanisms and landscape structure control stream DOC export during snowmelt in a set of nested catchments, Biogeochemistry, 99, 193–211.

Pande T N and Yamamoto H 2006 Cattle treading effects on plant growth and soil stability in the mountain grasslands of Japan. Land Degradation Development 17: 419-428.

Paré, M.C., Bedard-Haughn, A. (2012). Landscape-scale N mineralization and greenhouse gas emissions in Canadian Cryosols. Geoderma 189–190, 469–479.

Pariente S. (2002). Spatial patterns of soil moisture as affected by shrubs, in different climatic conditions. Environment Monitoring Assess; 73:237–51.

Parkin, T. B., & Venterea, R. T. (2010). Sampling Protocols. Chapter 3. Chamber-Based Trace Gas Flux Measurements. In F. R. F, Sampling Protocols (pp. 1-39). USDA-ARS.

Parkin, T. B., R. T. Venterea, and S. K. Hargreaves (2012). Calculating the 636 detection limits of chamber-based soil greenhouse gas flux measurements, *Journal of Environmental Quality*, 41(3), 705-715.

Paterson, E., Midwood, A.J., Millard, P., (2009). Through the eye of the needle: A review of isotope approaches to quantify microbial processes mediating soil carbon balance. New Phytologist 184, 19–33.

Paul C. Davidson, Theresa B. Kuhlenschmidt, Rabin Bhattarai, Prasanta K. Kalita and Mark S.Kuhlenschmidt (2016). Overland Transport of Rotavirus and the Effect of Soil Type andVegetation. Water J. 8, 78

Pelayo G, Andreu V, Gimeno-García E, Campo J, Rubio JL. (2010). Rainfall influence on plotscale runoff and soil loss from repeated burning in a Mediterranean-shrub ecosystem, Valencia, Spain. Geomorph., 118: 444–452.

Pellant, M.; Shaver, P.; Pyke, D.A.; Herrick, J.E., (2005). Interpreting indicators of rangeland health (version 4). BLM Technical Reference 1734-6.

Peltoniemi M, Palosuo T, Monni S, Mäkipää R (2006): Factors affecting the uncertainty of sinks and stocks of carbon in Finnish forests soils and vegetation. For Ecol Manage, 232:75–85.

Pennock, D. J., and M. D. Corre (2001). Development and application of landform segmentation procedures, Soil Tillage Res., 58(3), 151–162,

Phillips, C.L., Bond-Lamberty, B., Desai, A.R., Lavoie, M., Risk, D., Tang, J., Todd-Brown, K., Vargas, R., (2017). The value of soil respiration measurements for interpreting and modeling terrestrial carbon cycling. Plant Soil 413, 1–25. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/</u> s11104-016-3084-x.

Piao, S. L., J. Y. Fang, and J. S. He (2006). Variations in vegetation net primary production in the Qinghai-Xizang Plateau, China, from 1982 to 1999, Clim. Change, 74, 253–267,

Picek, T., Cizkova, H., & Dusek, J. (2007). Greenhouse gas emissions from a constructed wetland - Plants as important sources of carbon. *Ecological Engineering*, *31*, 98-106.

Pielke R.A. (2005). Land use and climate change. Science, 310:1624-1625.

Priscilla K. Lalampa, Oliver V. Wasonga, Daniel I. Rubenstein and Jesse T. Njoka. (2016). Effects of holistic grazing management on milk production, weight gain, and visitation to grazing areas by livestock and wildlife in Laikipia County, Kenya. Ecological Processes 5:17 R. J. LASCANO (1991). Review of models for predicting soil water balance. Soil Water Balance in the Sudano-SaheUan Zone (Proceedings of the Niamey Workshop, February 1991). IAHSPubl. no. 199.

Rafique, R., Fienen, M.N., Parkin, T.B., Anex, R.P., (2013). Nitrous oxide emissions from cropland: a procedure for calibrating the DayCent biogeochemical model using inverse modeling. Water Air Soil Pollut. 224 (9), 1677.

Rahn, K.-H., Werner, C., Kiese, R., Haas, E., Butterbach-Bahl, K., (2012). Parameter- induced uncertainty quantification of soil N2O, NO and CO2 emission for Hoeglwald spruce forest (Germany) using the Landscape-DNDC model. Biogeosciences 9, 3983–3998.

Raich, J. W., and Tufekcioglu, A. (2000). Vegetation and soil respiration: Correlations and controls. *Biogeochemistry*, *48*, 71-90.

Raich, J.W., Potter, C.s., & Bhagawati, D. (2002). Interannual variability in global soil respiration. Global Change Biology, 8 (8), 800-812.

Rango, A.; Tartowski, S.L.; Laliberte, A.; Wainwright, J. & Parsons, A. (2006). Islands of hydrologically enhanced biotic productivity in natural and managed arid ecosystems. Journal of arid environments, 65, 235-252.

Rebeca Vásquez-Méndez, Eusebio Ventura-Ramos, Klaudia Oleschko, Luis Hernández-Sandoval Jean-Francois Parrot c, Mark A. Nearing. (2010). Soil erosion and runoff in different vegetation patches from semiarid Central Mexico. Catena 80 162–169

Reeder, J.D., Schuman, G.E., Morgan, J.A., LeCain, D.R. (2004). Response of organic and inorganic carbon and nitrogen to long-term grazing of the short grass steppe. Environmental Management, 33:485-495.

Reid, R. S., Serneels, S., Nyabenge, M., Hanson, J., (2005). The changing faces of pastoral systems in grass-dominated ecosystem of eastern Africa, in: Suttie, J. M., Reynold S. G., Batello, C. (eds.), Grasslands of the world. FAO, Rome, pp. 19-76.

Reynold, S. G. (2005). Plant production and protection. Grasslands of the world. Series 34. Edited by (Subtie J.M.,Reynold S. G., and atello,C). 2005. FAO Rome.

Ridolfi,L.,Laio,F.,&D'Odorico,P.(2008).Fertility is land formation and evolution in dry land ecosystems. Ecology andSociety, 13(5), 439–461.

Rong YANG, YongZhong SU, Min WANG, Tao WANG, Xiao YANG, GuiPing FAN, TianChang WU, (2014).Spatial pattern of soil organic carbon in desert grasslands of the diluvialalluvial plains of northern Qilian Mountains. J Arid Land 6(2): 136–144

Rouchdi, M., Chahboun, S., Ramdane, A., Hammoudo, M., Rahou, A., (2008). Change detection of irrigated crop land using satellite imagery. The International Archives of the Photogrammetry, Remote Sensing and Spatial Information Sciences 37, 939–942.

Saggar, S., Giltrap, D.L., Li, C., Tate, K.R., (2007). Modeling nitrous oxide emissions from grazed grasslands in New Zealand. Agric. Ecosystem. Environ. 119, 205–216.

Sankaran, M., Hanan, N.P., Scholes, R.J., Ratnam, J., Augustine, D.J., Cade, B.S., Gignoux, J.,
Higgins, S.I., Le Roux, X., Ludwig, F., Ardo, J., Banyikwa, F., Bronn, A., Bucini, G., Caylor,
K.K., Coughenour, M.B., Diouf, A., Ekaya, W., Feral, C.J., February, E.C., Frost, P.G.H.,
Hiernaux, P., Hrabar, H., Metzger, K.L., Prins, H.H.T., Ringrose, S., Sea, W., Tews, J., Worden,
J. and Zambatis, N. (2005). Determinants of woody cover in African savannas. *Nature*, 438: 846-849.

Santhi, C., Arnold, J. G., Williams, J. R., Dugas, W. A., Srinivasan, R., and Hauck, L. M.: Validation of the SWAT model on a large river basin with point and nonpoint sources, J. Am. Water Resour. Assoc., 37, 1169–1188, 2001.

Sarah E. James, Meelis Pärtel, Scott D. Wilson and Duane A. Peltzer (2003). Temporal heterogeneity of soil moisture in grassland and forest. Journal of Ecology 91, 234–239.

Sarah P. (2002). Spatial patterns of soil moisture as affected by shrubs, in different climatic conditions. Environmental Monitoring and Assessment, 73: 237–241.

Schmidt,M.W.I., Torn, M.S., Abiven, S., Dittmar, T., Guggenberger, G., Janssens, I.A., Kleber, M., Kögel-Knabner, I., Lehmann, J., Manning, D.A.C., Nannipieri, P., Rasse, D.P., Weiner, S., Trumbore, S.E., (2011). Persistence of soil organic matter as an ecosystem property. Nature 478, 49–56.

Schwanghart, W., Jarmer, T., (2011). Linking spatial patterns of soil organic carbon to topography - A case study from south-eastern Spain. GeomoTShology. 252-263.

Scurlock J M O, Johnson K, Olson R J. (2002). Estimating net primary productivity from grassland biomass dynamics measurements. Global Change Biology, 8: 736–753.

Seibert, J., and McGlynn, B. L. (2007). A new triangular multiple flow direction algorithm for computing upslope areas from gridded digital elevation models, Water Resour. Res., 43, W04501.

Shaver G.R., Canadell J., Chapin F.S, III, Gurevitch J., Harte J., Henry G., Ineson P., Jonasson S., Melillo J., Pitelka L. & Rustad L. (2000). Global warming and terrestrial ecosystems: a conceptual framework for analysis. BioScience 50, 871_882.

Shicong Geng, Zhijie Chen, Shijie Han, Fang Wang and Junhui Zhang1 (2017). Rainfall reduction amplifies the stimulatory effect of nitrogen addition on N2O emissions from a temperate forest soil. Sci. Rep. 7, 43329

Shirima, D. D. (2009). Structure, composition, diversity and carbon storage in miombo woodland: an estimate for the Eastern Arc Mountains of Tanzania. Dissertation for Award of MSc Degree at the Sokoine University of Agriculture, Morogoro, Tanzania.70pp.

Shresthra, R. K., Lal, R., and Penrose, C. (2009). Greenhouse gas emissions and global warming potential of reclaimed forest and grassland soils. *Journal of Environmental Quality*, *38*, 426-436.

Singh B, Ryan J (2015). Managing fertilizers on enhance soil health. 1st Edn, IFA. Paris, France. 23p.

Singh, S.N., and L. Tyagi. (20090. Nitrous oxide: sources, sinks, and mitigation strategies. p. 127-150.

Smith P, Martino D, (2007). Agriculture in: Climate Change 2007: Mitigation. Contribution of Working Group III to the Fourth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change.' (Cambridge University Press: Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, NY, USA).

Smith, J., Smith, P., Wattenbach, M., Zaehle, S., Hiederer, R., Jones, R. J. A., Montanarella, L., Rounsevell, M. D. A., Reginster, I., and Ewert, F. (2005): Projected changes in mineral soil carbon of European croplands and grasslands, 1990–2080, Glob. Change Biol., 11, 2141–2152,

Smith, K. A., Ball, T., Conen, F., Dobbie, K. E., Massheder, J., & Rey, A. (2003). Exchange of greenhouse gases between soil and atmosphere: interactions of soil physical factors and biological processes. *European Journal of Soil Science*, *54* (4), 779-791.

Smith, P. (2012). Soils and climate change. Current opinion in environmental sustainability 4:539–544.

Smith, W.N., Grant, B.B., Desjardins, R.L., Worth, D., Li, C., Boles, S.H., Huffman, E.C., (2010). A tool to link agricultural activity data with the DNDC model to estimate GHG emission factor in Canada. Agric. Ecosystem. Environ. 301–309.

Solomon, S., Qin, D., Manning, M., Chen, Z., Marquis, M., Averyt, K.B., Tignor, M. and Miller, H.L. (2007). Climate Change 2007: The Physical Science Basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Fourth Assessment IPCC.

Stange, F., K. Butterbach-Bahl, H. Papen, S. Zechmeister-Boltenstern, C. S. Li, and J. Aber. (2000). A process-oriented model of N2O and NO emissions from forest soils: 2. Sensitivity analysis and validation, J. Geophys. Res., 105(D4), 4385–4398,

Stavi, I., Ungar, E.D., Lavee, H., Sarah, P (2008). Grazing-induced spatial variability of soil bulk density and content of moisture, organic carbon and calcium carbonate in a semi-arid rangeland. Catena 75, 288–296.

Steinbeiss, S., Beßler, H., Engels, C., Temperton, V.M., Buchmann, N., Roscher, C., Kreutziger,Y., Baade, J., Habekost, M. & Gleixner, G. (2008). Plant diversity positively affects short-term soil carbon storage in experimental grasslands. Global Change Biol., 14: 2937–2949.

Stewart A, Frank D. (2008). Short sampling intervals reveal very rapid root turnover in a temperate grassland. Oecologia; 157:453–458.

Stielstra, C.M., Lohse, K.A., Chorover, J. (2015). Climatic and landscape influences onsoil moisture are primary determinants of soil carbon fluxes in seasonallysnow-covered forest ecosystems. Biogeochemistry 123, 447–465.

Sturm, K., Keller-Lehmann, B., Werner, U., Sharma, K. R., Grinham, A. and Yuan, Z. (2015). Sampling considerations and assessment of Exetainer usage for measuring dissolved and gaseous methane and nitrous oxide in aquatic systems. Limnology and Oceanography: Methods, doi: 10.1002/lom3.10031.

Sturtevant, C. S., and W. C. Oechel (2013), Spatial variation in landscape-level CO2 and CH4 fluxes from arctic coastal tundra: Influence from vegetation, wetness, and the thaw lake cycle, Global Change Biol., 19(9), 2853–2866.

Sukristiyonubowo 2007. Nutrient Balances in Terraced Paddy Fields under Traditional Irrigation in Indonesia. Ph.D. Thesis. Ghent University, Ghent.

Sultan, D., Tsunekawa, A., Haregeweyn, N., Adgo, E., Tsubo, M., Meshesha, D.T., Masunaga, T., Aklog, D., Ebabu, K. (2017). Analyzing the runoff response to soil and water conservation measures in a tropical humid Ethiopian highland. Phys. Geogr. 38 (5), 1–25.

Symeonakis, E., Higginbottom, T. P. (2014). Bush encroachment monitoring using multitemporal Landsat data and random forests. Int. Arch. Photogramm. Remote Sens. Spatial Inf. Sci., XL-2, 29-35. doi:10.5194/isprsarchives-XL-2-29-2014.

Taguas, E., Peⁿa, A., Ayuso, J., Pérez, R., Yuan, Y., Giráldez, J., (2010). Rainfall variability and hydrological and erosive response of an olive tree micro catchment under no-tillage with a spontaneous grass cover in Spain.Earth Surf. Proc. Land. 35, 750–760.

Tan, Z.X., Lal, R., Smeck, N.E. & Calhoun, F.G. (2004). Relationships between surface soil organic carbon pool and site variables. Geoderma, 121, 187–195.

Taylor, D., P.J. Lane, V. Muiruri, A. Ruttledge, R.G. McKeever, T. Nolan, P. Kenny, and R. Goodhue. 2005. Mid- to late-Holocene vegetation dynamics on the Laikipia Plateau, Kenya. The Holocene 15: 837–846.

Teh, Y. A., Diem, T., Jones, S., Huaraca Quispe, L. P., Baggs, E., Morley, N., Richards, M., Smith, P., and Meir, P. (2014). Methane and nitrous oxide fluxes across an elevation gradient in the tropical Peruvian Andes, Biogeosciences, 11, 2325–2339,

Teiter, S., & Mander, U. (2005). Emission of N2O, N2, CH4, and CO2 from constructed wetlands for watewater treatment and from riparian buffer zones. *Ecological Engineering*, *25* (5), 528-541.

Thomaz, E.L.; Antoneli, V. (2015). Rain interception in a secondary fragment of araucaria forest with Faxinal, Guarapuava-PR. CERNE, 21, 363–369.

Throop H L, Archer S R. (2008). Shrub (Prosopis velutina) encroachment in a semidesert grassland: spatial-temporal changes in soil organic carbon and nitrogen pools. Global Change Biology, 14: 2420–2431.

Thum, T., Rä isä nen, P., Sevanto, S., Tuomi, M., Reick, C., Vesala, T., Raddatz, T. Aalto, T., Jä rvinen, H., Altimir, N., Pilegaard, K., Zoltan, N., Rambal, S. & Liski, J. (2011). Soil carbon model alternatives for climate model: evaluation and impacts on global carbon cycle estimates. J. Geophysical Res. Biogeosciences, 116.

Tian, H., Chen, G., Lu, C., Xu, X., Ren, W., Zhang, B., Banger, K., Pan, S., Liu, M., Zhang, C., Bruhwiler, L., and Wofsy, S (2014).: Global methane and nitrous oxide emissions from terrestrial ecosystems due to multiple environmental changes, Ecosyst. Heal. Sustain., 1, 1–20.

Timm, L. C., L. F. Pires, R. Roveratti, R. C. J. Arthur, K. Reichardt, J. C. Martinsde Oliveira, and O. O. S. Bacchi. (2006). Field spatial and temporal patternsof soil water content and bulk density changes. Sci. Agric. 63:55Y64.

Torres L, Abraham EM, Rubio C, Barbero-Sierra C, Ruiz-PeÂrez M. (2015). Desertification Research in Argentina. Land Degradation & Development.; 26(5):433±40. https://doi.org/10.1002/ldr.2392

Trükmann K., Reintam E., Kuht J., Nugis E., Edesi L. (2008). Effect of soil compaction on growth and narrow-leafed lupine, oilseed rape and spring barley on sand loam soil. Agronomy Research, 6 (1): 101–108

Tuomi, M., Rasinmäki, J., Vanhala, P., Repo, A., and Liski, J. (2011). Soil carbon model Yasso07 graphical user interface. Environmental Modelling and Software 26: 1358-1362.

Turner D A, Chen D, Galbally I E, Leuning R, Edis R B, Li Y., (2008). Spatial variability of nitrous oxide emissions from an Australian irrigated dairy pasture. Plant and Soil, 309: 55–62.

Ullah, B., Shaaban, M., Hu, R.G., Zhao, J.S., Lin, S., (2016). Assessing soil nitrous oxide emission as affected by phosphorous and nitrogen addition under two moisture levels. Journal of Integrative Agriculture, 15 (0): 60345-7.

UNDP (UN Development Programme) (2009) 'Climate Change in the African Drylands: Options and Opportunities for Adaptation and Mitigation'. New York: UNDP.

Van Auken, O.W., (2009). Causes and consequences of woody plant encroachment into western North American grasslands. J Environ. Manage. 90; 2931-2942.

Van der Nat F-J, Middelburg JJ (2000). Methane emission from tidal freshwater marshes. Biogeochemistry. 49(2):103–121.

Vannoppen W, Vanmaercke M, De Baets S. (2015). A review of the mechanical effects of plant roots on concentrated flow erosion rates. Earth-Science Reviews, 150: 666–678.

Vargas, R., Collins, S.L., Thomey, M.L., Johnson, J.E., Brown, R.F., Natvig, D.O., Friggens, M.T. (2012). Precipitation variability and fire influence the temporal dynamics of soil CO2 efflux in an arid grassland. Glob. Change Biol. 18, 1401–1411.

Vereecken, H., Kamai, T., Harter, T., Kasteel, R., Hopmans, J. and Vanderborght, J. (2007). Explaining soil moisture variability as a function of mean soil moisture: a stochastic unsaturated flow perspective. Geophys. Res. Lett. 34, L22402.

VeroÂn SR, Paruelo JM. (2010). Desertification alters the response of vegetation to changes in precipitation. Journal of Applied Ecology.; 47(6):1233±41. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2664.2010.01883.x

Vidon, P. G., and Hill, A. R. (2004). Landscape controls on nitrate removal in stream riparian zones. *Journal of Hydrology*, 272, 210-228.

Vidon, P., Marchese, S., Welsh, M., and McMillan, S. (2015). Short-term spatial and temporal variability in greenhouse gas fluxes in riparian zones, Environ. Monit. Assess., 187, 503.

Vieira F.C.B., Pereira A.B., Bayer C., Schu⁻nemann A.L., Victoria F.C., Albuquerque M.P., Oliveira C.S. (2012). In situ methane and nitrous oxide fluxes in soil from a transect in Hennequin Point, King George Island, Antarctic. Chemosphere 90, 497_504.

Vivoni ER, Rinehart AJ, MeÂndez-Barroso LA, AragoÂn CA, Bisht G, Cardenas MB, (2008). Vegetation controls on soil moisture distribution in the Valles Caldera, New Mexico, during the North American monsoon. Ecohydrology. 1(3):225±38. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/eco.11</u>

Voepel, H., Ruddell, B., Schumer, R., Troch, P. A., Brooks, P. D., Neal, A. Sivapalan, M. (2011). Quantifying the role of climate and landscape characteristics on hydrologic partitioning and vegetation response. Water Resources Research.

Wager-Riddle C, Furon A, Mclaughlin NL, Lee I, Barbeau J, Jayasundara S. (2007). Intensive measurement of nitrous oxide emissions from a corn–soybean–wheat rotation under two contrasting management systems over 5 years. Global Change Biol 13(8): 1722–1736.

Wang T, Wedin DA, Franz TE, Hiller J. (2015). Effect of vegetation on the temporal stability of soil moisture in grass-stabilized semi-arid sand dunes. Journal of Hydrology. 521:447±59. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.jhydrol.2014.12.037 Wang X, Li Y, Chen Y, Lian J, Luo Y, Niu Y, (2018). Spatial pattern of soil organic carbon and total nitrogen, and analysis of related factors in an agro-pastoral zone in Northern China. SUoS ONE 13(5): e0197451.

Wang, J.; Huang, J.; Wu, P.; Zhao, X. (2016). Application of neural network and grey relational analysis in ranking the factors affecting runoff and sediment yield under simulated rainfall. Soil Res., 54, 291.

Wang, S., Duan, J., Xu, G., Wang, Y., Zhang, Z., Rui, Y., Luo, C., Xu, B., Zhu, X., Chang, X., Cui, X., Niu, H., Zhao, X., Wang, W., (2012). Effects of warming and grazing on soil N availability, species composition, and ANPP in an alpine meadow. Ecology 93, 2365–2376.

Wei, W., Wang X, Li Y, Chen Y, Lian J, Luo Y, Niu Y, (2018). Spatial pattern of soil organic carbon and total nitrogen, and analysis of related factors in an agro-pastoral zone in Northern China. SUoS ONE 13(5): e0197451

Weintraub, S.R., Taylor, P.G., Porder, S., Cleveland, C.C., Asner, G.P., Townsend, A.R. (2014). Topographic controls on soil nitrogen availability in a lowland tropical forest. Ecology 96, 1561– 1574

Wesaka, R. M. (2009). Estimation of Carbon stock in Uchindile Forest Plantation, Kilombero District, Tanzania. Dissertation for Award of MSc Degree at Sokoine University of Agriculture, Morogoro, Tanzania. 85pp

Wheeler C W, Archer S R, Asner G P, (2007). Climatic/edaphic controls on soil carbon/nitrogen response to shrub encroachment in desert grassland. Ecological Applications, 17: 1911–1928.

White, R., Murray, S. and Rohweder, M. (2001). Grassland ecosystems: pilot analysis of global ecosystems. World Resources Institute, Washington, DC.

Wilcox, B.P.; Dowhower, S.L.; Teague, W.R.; Thurow, T.L., (2006). Long-term water balance in a semiarid shrubland. Rangeland Ecol. Manag. J., 59(6): 600-606.

Williams AG, Ternan JL, Fitzjohn C, de Alba S, Perez-Gonzalez A. (2003). Soil moisture variability and land use in a seasonally arid environment. Hydrological Processes 17:225–235.

Wilson, S.D. (2000). Heterogeneity, diversity, and scale in plant communities. Ecological Consequences of Habitat Heterogeneity (eds M.J. Hutchings, E.A. John & A.J. Stewart), pp. 53– 69. Blackwell Science, Oxford

Wolf B, Zheng X, Brüggemann N, Chen W, Dannenmann M, Han X, (2010). Grazing-induced reduction of natural nitrous oxide release from continental steppe. Nature 464(7290): 881–884.

Wright, I.A., Tarawali, S., Blummel, M., Gerard, B., Teufel, N., Herrero, M., (2012). Integrating crops and livestock in subtropical agricultural systems. J. Sci. Food Agric. 92, 1010–1015.

Wu, X., Yao, Z., Bruggemann, N., Shen, Z. Y., Wolf, B., Dannenmann, M., and Zheng, X. (2010). Effects of soil moisture and temperature on CO2 and CH4 soil– atmosphere exchange of various land use/cover types in a semi-arid grassland in Inner Mongolia, China. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, *42*, 773–787.

X.F. Song, S.Q. Wang, G.Q. Xiao, (2009). A study of soil water movement combining soil water potential with stable isotopes at two sites of shallow groundwater areas in the North China plain, Hydrological Processes 23 1376–1388.

Xiao XM, Zhang Q, Braswell B, (2004). Modeling gross primary production of temperate deciduous broadleaf forest using satellite images and climate data. Remote Sens Environ; 91:256-70

Xu ,X.,Ma,K.,Fu,B.,Song,C., and Wen,L.(2008).Relationships between vegetation and soil and topography in a dry warm river valley,SW China. Catena, 75(2), 138–145.

Xuemei Meia, Lan Maa,b, Qingke Zhua, Bai Lic,a, Dong Zhanga, Huifang Liuc, Qianing Zhangd, Qingping Goua, and Mingshuang Shena, (2019). The variability in soil water storage on the loess footslopes in China and its estimation.

Yafeng Wang, Bojie Fu, Yihe Lu, Liding Chen. (2011). Effects of vegetation restoration on soil organic carbon sequestration at multiple scales in semi-arid Loess Plateau, China. <u>CatenaVolume</u> 85, Issue 1Pages 58–66 Yanai, Y., K. Toyota, and M. Okazaki (2007), Effects of charcoal addition on N2O emissions from soil resulting from rewetting air-dried soil in short-term laboratory experiments, Soil Sci. Plant Nutr., 53, 181–188.

Yang, J. and Prince, S.D., (2000). Remote sensing of savanna vegetation changes in Eastern Zambia 1972-1989. International Journal of Remote Sensing, 21(2), pp.301-322

Yimer, F., Ledin, S., and Abdulkadir, A. (2006). Soil organic carbon and total nitrogen stocks as affected by topographic aspect and vegetation in the Bale Mountains, Ethiopia. Geoderma, 135: 335-344.

Yoo, K., Amundson, R., Heimsath, A.M. and Dietrich, W.E., (2005). Process-based model linking pocket gopher (Thomomys bottae) activity to sediment transport and soil thickness. Geology, 33(11): 917-920.

Yu, G.Q.; Zhang, M.S.; Li, Z.B.; Li, P.; Zhang, X.; Cheng, S.D., (2013). Piecewise prediction model for watershed-scale erosion and sediment yield of individual rainfall events on the Loess Plateau, China. Hydrol. Process

Yun SI, Kang BM, Lim SS. (2012). Further understanding CH₄ emissions from a flooded rice field exposed to experimental warming with elevated [CO₂]. *Agr Forest Meteorol* 54–55: 75-83.

Yvon-Durocher G, Allen AP, Bastviken D. (2014). Methane fluxes show consistent temperature dependence across microbial to ecosystem scales. *Nature*, **507**, 488–91.

Yvon-Durocher, G., Allen, A.P., Bastviken, D., Conrad, R., Gudasz, C., St-Pierre, A., Thanh-Duc, N., del Giorgio, P.A. (2014). Methane fluxes show consistent temperature dependence across microbial to ecosystem scales. Nature 507 (7493), 488–491.

Yvon-Durocher, G., Allen, A.P., Bastviken, D., Conrad, R., Gudasz, C., St-Pierre, A., Thanh-Duc, N., del Giorgio, P.A., (2014). Methane fluxes show consistent temperature dependence across microbial to ecosystem scales. Nature 507 (7493), 488–491.

Zahabu, E. (2006). Community Forest Management as a Carbon Mitigation Option. http://www.cifor.cgiar.org/publications/pdffiles/Books/BMurdiyarso0602. Zhang K R, Cheng X L, Dang H, (2012). Linking litter production, quality and decomposition to vegetation succession following agricultural abandonment. Soil Biology & Biochemistry,

Zhang, D. B. (2015). Responses of Winter Wheat Production to Green Manure and Nitrogen Fertilizer on the Loess Plateau. Agron. J. 107, 1–14, doi: 10.2134/agronj14.0432

Zhang, F., C. Li, Z. Wang, and H. Wu. (2006). Modeling impacts of management alternatives on soil carbon storage of farmland in Northwest China. Biogeosciences 3:451-466.

Zhang, X.Y.; Shi, X.; Yu, D. (2010). Effect of antecedent soil moisture on the runoff and sediment characteristics of red soil slope. Adv. Water Sci., 21, 23–29.

Zhou, M., Zhu, B., Butterbach-Bahl, K., Zheng, X., Wang, T., Wang, Y., (2013). Nitrousoxide emissions and nitrate leaching from a rain-fed wheat-maize rotation in the Sichuan Basin, China. Plant Soil 362, 149–159.

Zhu T, Zhang J, Yang W, Cai Z. (2013). Effects of organic material amendment and water content on NO, N2O, 409 and N2 emissions in a nitrate-rich vegetable soil. Biol Fertil Soils 49:153-164

Zhu, J.Y., Zhang, J.X., Li, Q., Han, T., Hu, Y.H., Liu, X.D., Qin, W.Q., Chai, L.Y., Qiu, G.Z.(2014). Bioleaching of heavy metals from contaminated alkaline sediment by auto and heterotrophic bacteria in stirred tank reactor. Transactions Nonferrous Metals Society China, 24 (9), 2969-2975.

Zornoza, R., Acosta, J.A., Bastida, F., Domínguez, S.G., Toledo, D.M., Faz, A., (2015). Identification of sensitive indicators to assess the interrelationship between soil quality, management practices and human health. Soil 1, 173–185.
APPENDICES

Appendix 1: ANOVA for the effects of topographical zones and vegetation types on BD, %OC and SOCs

BD_LRS

Source of var	iation		d.f.	S.S .		m.s	5.	v.r.	F pr.
T_zone3	0.4196	539	0.1398	80	24.68	<.001			
V_cover	2	0.0456	78	0.0228	39	4.03	0.020		
Depth 4	0.6111	58	0.1527	89	26.95	<.001			
T_zone.v_cov	er	6	0.1323	62	0.0220	60	3.89	0.001	
T_zone.depth	12	0.2174	30	0.0181	19	3.20	<.001		
V_cover.depth	18	0.0587	07	0.0073	38	1.29	0.253		
T_zone.v_cov	er.depth	124	0.1955	73	0.0081	49	1.44	0.104	

BD_SRS

Source of variation			d.f.	S.S.		m.s.		v.r.	F pr.
T_zone3	0.1812	261	0.0604	20	9.67	<.001			
V_cover	2	0.1104	89	0.0552	45	8.84	<.001		
Depth 4	0.6538	806	0.1634	51	26.15	<.001			
T_zone.v_cov	er	6	0.6099	64	0.1016	61	16.26	<.001	
T_zone.depth	12	0.0780	30	0.0065	03	1.04	0.417		

V_cover.depth8	0.067309	0.008414	1.35	0.228	
T_zone.v_cover.dept	h24 0.09	0.0	03818	0.61	0.919

%OC_LRS

Source of vari	ation	d.f.	S.S.	m.s.	v.r.	F pr.			
T_zone3	0.5665	5	0.1888	35	7.10	<.001			
V_cover	2	0.5112	20	0.2556	0	9.61	<.001		
Depth 4	7.3212	26	1.8303	81	68.84	<.001			
T_zone.v_cov	er	6	0.2323	80	0.0387	72	1.46	0.199	
T_zone.depth	12	0.6191	8	0.0516	0	1.94	0.036		
V_cover.depth	18	0.3150)9	0.0393	9	1.48	0.171		
T_ZONE.V_C	COVER.	DEPTH	H 24	0.9082	5	0.0378	34	1.42	0.110

%OC_SRS

Source of vari	ation	d.f.	S.S.	m.s.	v.r.	F pr.		
T_zone3	0.2463	32	0.0821	1	3.41	0.020		
V_cover	2	0.3158	37	0.1579	3	6.56	0.002	
Depth 4	8.3019	94	2.0754	19	86.19	<.001		
T_zone.v_cov	er	6	0.3970)9	0.0661	18	2.75	0.015
T_zone.depth	12	0.0430)3	0.0035	9	0.15	1.000	
V_cover.depth	18	0.0746	57	0.0093	3	0.39	0.925	
T_zone.v_cov	er.deptł	n24	0.1665	52	0.0069	94	0.29	1.000

SOCs_LRS

Source of var	iation		d.f.	s.	s.	m.s		v.r.	F pr.
T_zone3	21.911	l	7.304	2.88	0.039				
V_cover	2	31.489		15.745	i	6.20	<.001		
Depth 4	501.07	70	125.26	58	49.31	<.001			
T_zone.v_cov	er	6	24.870)	4.145	1.63	0.144		
T_zone.depth	12	55.383		4.615	1.82	0.053			
V_cover.depth	18	34.733		4.342	1.71	0.103			
T_zone.v_cov	er.depth	u 24	9	0.008	3.7	750	1.48	0.089	

SOCs_SRS

Source of var	iation		d.f.	S	.s.	m.s	5.	v.r.	F pr.
T_zone3	60.608	3	20.203		8.26	<.001			
V_cover	2	46.666		23.333	3	9.54	<.001		
Depth 4	747.27	73	186.81	8	76.35	<.001			
T_zone.v_cov	er	6	12.842		2.140	0.87	0.516		
T_zone.depth	12	13.753		1.146	0.47	0.930			
V_cover.depth	18	13.380		1.673	0.68	0.705			
T_zone.v_cov	er.depth	u 24	27	.792	1.	158	0.47	0.982	

Appendix 2: ANOVA for the effects of topographical zones and vegetation types on evapotranspiration, runoff and soil water balance

Evapotranspiration

Source of varia	ation	d.f.	s.s.	m.s.	v.r.	F pr.		
T_ZONE	2	336.43	9	168.21	9	40.35	<.001	
season 1	24246	.869	24246.	.869	5816.2	21	<.001	
V_COVER	2	21.910)	10.955	i	2.63	0.086	
T_ZONE.seas	on	2	0.000	0.000	0.00	1.000		
T_ZONE.V_C	COVER	4	10.580)	2.645	0.63	0.641	
season.V_CO	VER	2	5.290	2.645	0.63	0.536		
T_ZONE.seas	on.V_C	OVER	4	10.580)	2.645	0.63	0.641

Runoff

Source of vari	ation	d.f.	S.S.	m.s.	v.r.	F pr.	
T_ZONE	2	336.43	9	168.21	19	40.35	<.001
season 1	690.15	54	690.15	54	165.55	5	<.001
V_COVER	2	138.76	0	69.380)	16.64	<.001
T_ZONE.seas	on	2	0.000	0.000	0.00	1.000	
T_ZONE.V_C	COVER	4	2.527	0.632	0.15	0.961	

season.V_COVER 2 1.263 0.632 0.15 0.860

T_ZONE.season.V_COVER 4 2.527 0.632 0.15 0.961

Soil water balance

Source of vari	ation	d.f.	S.S.	m.s.	v.r.	F pr.	
T_ZONE	2	1345.7	76	672.88	8	40.35	<.001
season 1	34547	0.41	34547	0.41	20717	.40	<.001
V_COVER	2	119.96	5	59.98	3.60	0.038	
T_ZONE.seas	on	2	0.00	0.00	0.00	1.000	
T_ZONE.V_C	COVER	4	2.77	0.69	0.04	0.997	
season.V_CO	VER	2	1.38	0.69	0.04	0.959	
T_ZONE.seas	on.V_C	OVER	4	2.77	0.69	0.04	0.997



Annex 1: Field demarcation and soil sampling



Annex 2: Run-off plots



Annex 3: GHGs chambers installation